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Noor Financial Investment Company - KPSC (“Noor”) was established in 

Kuwait in 1996 and its shares were listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange 

(Boursa Kuwait) in May 2006. 

Noor is engaged in investment activities and financial services primarily 

in Kuwait, the Middle East, Asia, and other emerging markets. Noor 

offers a full spectrum of innovative and unrivaled investment and financial 

services which include both advisory and asset management.

Noor’s strength rests on  its diversified portfolio of Direct Capital Market 

Investments, Real Estate and Alternative Investments. Noor manages 

a proprietary listed equity portfolio comprising of local and GCC equi-

ties.The Marketable Securities department continues to successfully 

deploy funds in GCC equity markets. To achieve consistent income and 

stable return, Noor owns a commercial complex in addition to several 

others buildings. The Company’s Alternative Investments department  

continues to pursue strategic investment opportunities that aim to 

achieve synergies among existing investments as well as to open new 

opportunities for the Company. Real Estate and Alternative Investments 

diversify Noor
,
s portfolio to mitigate market volatility.

Noor aims for calculated and smart growth through excellence and high 

standards of achievements backed by its core values. Supported by 

a strong talented team of professionals, Noor is well poised for future 

success and growth.

AN OVERVIEW OF
THE COMPANY
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Subsidiaries and Associates Include:

12

Meezan Bank Limited - Pakistan

Noor is the largest shareholder in Meezan Bank Limited, Pakistan which is the first and the largest Islamic bank in 

Pakistan with more than 960 branches across 300 cities in the country. Besides traditional banking channels, the 

Bank offers numerous alternate distribution channels including internet and mobile banking. As of 31 December 

2022 Meezan Bank has assets of more than USD 11.4 Billion and deposits of more than USD 7.3 Billion.

Noor GCC Islamic Fund

Noor manages “Noor GCC Islamic Fund” which seeks long-term capital appreciation by investing primarily in 

Kuwait and GCC equities according to the Islamic Shari’ah.

Noor GCC Islamic Fund is an open -ended mutual fund which was launched back in 2007 as a Shari’ah compliant 

fund.

It invests in promising securities with an active strategy in the regional markets to achieve high risk adjusted 

returns and provides monthly liquidity to its unit holders.

The fund has achieved a return of -3.67% for the year 2022.
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Hotels Global Group Company - Jordan (HGG)

Through its subsidiary, Hotels Global Group Company in Jordan, Noor holds the concession rights of Amman 

International Airport Hotel which is a 4 star hotel with 300 rooms and multiple Food and Beverage outlets as well 

as other facilities. Hotels Global Group Company is also operating a transit lounge within the new Queen Alia 

International Airport terminal in addition to management of third party hospitality businesses.

Arab Information Management Services (AIMS)

AIMS is a subsidiary of Noor Financial Investment. AIMS is a leading IT company in Kuwait with a long history of 

IT projects for the government of Kuwait as well as the private sector.

The company is specialized in providing IT solutions and services to a variety of institutions in sectors such 

as governmental, oil and gas, banking and finance, education, and retail. These solutions and services include

Oracle Cloud ERP , Kiosk solutions, CMS/DMS and archiving, Software development and integration,manpower 

outsourcing and recruitment, printers and copiers consumables, maintenance and training.

AIMS means quality services. The company’s vision is to provide leading technologies, quality products and 

customized solutions to the clients.

The company’s revenues reached USD +36 million in 2022.

The major points of AIMS’ strength are client retention, flexibility and highly qualified staff. The company has 

+1,000 employees.

AIMS has various ISO certificates including ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO 20000-1, ISO/IEC 27001 and ISO 45001.
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SUMMARY OF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Dear Esteemed Shareholders,
The Board of Directors of Noor Financial Investment Company is honored to have the esteemed shareholders present at the 
Company,s ordinary general assembly meeting. The Board is pleased to present you its annual report and audited financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended on December 31,2022 asking Almighty Allah to grant us success and guidance.

Company’s Operations:
Noor continued its growth trajectory and achieved a net profit of KD 19.82 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, an 

increase of 14.3% compared to the previous year. The Company reported Shareholders’ Equity of KD 85.70 million as of 31 

December 2022 compared to KD 85.28 million at the end of previous fiscal year. Noting that the Shareholders, Equity does 
not reflect the full market value of Company’s investment in associates except in the event of sale, in line with the approved 
accounting standards.
Alternative Investments:

The Company’s investment in associate – Meezan Bank Limited – had another exceptional year of performance. This year, the 
Bank reported profitability of PKR 44.9 billion (US$ 198 million), growing fifty-nine percent year-on-year and leading to 45% return 

on equity. Market value of Company’s 35.25 % stake in Meezan Bank, which is carried at KD 59 million in the books, was KD 85 

million as of 31 December 2022. Company’s share of results of Meezan Bank for the year stood at KD 22.9 million (2021: KD 
17.8 million) providing a growth of more than 28% after taking into consideration the gradual decrease of the exchange rate of the 
Pakistani Rupee against the US Dollar for the fiscal year 2022. 
The Company’s subsidiaries in IT business generated a revenue of KD 12.2 million after a growth of 5% during the year 2022 

in comparison with the previous year and reported net profit of KD 603 thousand. With respect to the Company’s investment in 
the hotel industry, which was one of the most affected industries globally due to the prevailing economic conditions, our hotel 
subsidiary in Jordan resumed normal business activities after a slowdown in the previous two years due to the health conditions. 
The subsidiary achieved a growth of 60% in its revenues during the year 2022 and is working to achieve the pre- 2020 levels of 
revenue in the shortest possible period.

On the other hand, the Company also had an exit from one of the Company,s external investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, Jordan Telecommunications Company, which generated cash liquidity of KD 4.86 million. 

On the real estate side, the value of Company,s real estate portfolio was KD 12.3 million as of December 31, 2022 which 
generated rental income of KD 837 thousand for the year after an increase of 24% from the previous year. One the Company’s 
main properties, Noor Al Salhiya building, was renovated which contributed to raising the rental value as well as improved the 
satisfaction of the tenants and visitors.

Marketable Securities:

The marketable securities portfolio of the Company achieved a return of 3.5% for the year 2022 despite the continuous fluctuation 
of the markets during the year. The Company sold marketable securities of KD 694 thousand during the year 2022. The Company’s 
portfolio of marketable securities stood at KD 13.9 million as of 31 December 2022 which is mainly GCC focused. 

Noor GCC Islamic Fund reported a return of -3.67% for the year 2022 compared to the benchmark return of -5.89%. The Fund 
was earlier awarded as the best fund over three years in EQUITY GCC (GULF COOP CNCL) category by Lipper Fund Awards 
from Refinitiv during the year 2019. 

Borrowings:

The Company is recognized for systematically reducing its debts based on a clear plan. It maintained growth and reduced liabilities 
in parallel, as the ratio of debt to equity reached 0.18, which is very low in the investment sector and is an important indicator of 
the general performance of the company and its ability to expand in the future. The Company’s debt was reduced from KD 18.4 

million to KD 15 million during the year by paying KD 3.4 million to the lenders. The Company posted a total reduction of KD 85 

million in debt over past five years. As a result, the value of Company’s debt has been reduced to the lowest level in its history.

29
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Shareholders’ Equity:
The Shareholders’ Equity stood at KD 85.7 million as of 31 December 2022 leading to a book value per share of FILS 168 based 
on the new capital after the distribution of the bonus shares for the previous fiscal year 2021 and after payment of FILS 6 dividend 
per share for the year 2021.

The performance indicators and the aforementioned information have reflected positively on the Company and have strengthened 
its position in the market. It is made possible by the distinguished efforts and continuous hard work of the Board of Directors and 
the executive team in exploring opportunities to reduce liabilities and achieve expansion and growth. The Company aims to build 
a new range of products and services in the financial services and investment sector whenever suitable conditions are present. 
The company is also working to realize the potential rewards from the implementations of the verdicts of judicial disputes, when 
the legal and commercial aspects of the disputes are settled.

Company’s Financial Performance:
The total income of the Company in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the year 2022 was KD 38.8 million representing 
KD 22.9 million share of profits of associates, KD 14.6 million revenue from the operations of the subsidiaries in the IT and hotel 
industries and KD 1.3 million from other investments. Total income increased by 10% due to the better performance of the 
associate company. 

The Company achieved a net profit attributable to the shareholders of KD 19.82 million (EPS of 38.93 Fils) for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2022 compared to a net profit of KD 17.34 million (EPS of 34.66 Fils) for the previous year 2021. 

BOD Recommendations:

The Board of Directors proposed distribution to shareholders of a cash dividend of 5 Fils per share for the year ended 31 December 
2022, which is subject to the approval of Company,s general assembly and regulatory authorities. The Board of Directors also 
recommended to distribute an amount of KD 177,500 as remuneration to the Board of Directors for their services during the year 
2022, which is also subject to the approval of Company,s general assembly.

In conclusion, the members of the Board of Directors extend their sincere thanks and gratitude to the Company,s shareholders, 
customers, and all stakeholders for their confidence and support over the years. The Board also expresses sincere thanks 
and appreciation to all employees of the company for their sincere efforts, continuous dedication to work and their constructive 
contributions.

May Allah grant us success.

The Board of Directors
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INTRODUCTION

COMPANY ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE

RULE I: CONSTRUCT A BALANCED BOARD COMPOSITION

•  Board structure and Board committee membership 
•  Board meetings during the year 2022

•  Registering, coordinating, and archiving Board meeting minutes
RULE II: ESTABLISH APPROPRIATE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

•  Defining the roles, responsibilities, duties and authorities of the Board of Directors and Executive Management 
•  Significant Board achievements and resolutions during the year 
•  Formation of independent and specialized committees

1.  Board Audit Committee
2.  Board Risk Management Committee 
3.  Board Nominations and Remunerations Committee
4.  Board Credit Committee

•  Enabling Board Members to obtain accurate and timely information and data
RULE III: RECRUIT HIGHLY QUALIFIED CANDIDATES FOR THE MEMBERS OF A BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AND THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

•  Nomination and Remunerations Committee formation 
•  Remunerations awarded to the Board of Directors and Executive Management 
RULE IV: SAFEGUARD THE INTEGRITY OF FINANCIAL REPORTING

•  Declarations on the soundness and integrity of financial reporting
•  Audit Committee formation
•  External Auditor independence and objectivity
RULE V: APPLY SOUND SYSTEMS OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT

•  Establishing an Independent risk management unit
•  Risk Management Committee formation
•  Systems of internal control and audit
•  Establishing an independent internal audit unit 
RULE VI: PROMOTE CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

•  Professional Code of Conduct and ethical values
•  Managing and limiting conflicts of interest 
RULE VII: ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH-QUALITY DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

•  Disclosure of material information 
•  Board of Directors and Executive Management disclosure register 
•  Investor Affairs Unit
•  Developing an IT infrastructure related to disclosures
RULE VIII: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

•  Define and protect the general rights of shareholders ensuring fairness and equality between all shareholders 
•  Shareholder’s register and records 
•  Encouraging shareholders to contribute and vote in Annual General Meetings 
RULE IX: RECOGNIZE THE ROLES OF STAKEHOLDERS

•  Protection of stakeholder’s rights 
•  Encouraging stakeholders to monitor Company activities 
RULE X: ENCOURAGE AND ENHANCE PERFORMANCE

•  Mechanisms for Board Members and Executive Management to receive regular trainings 
•  Evaluation of the Board of Directors as a whole, individually and Executive Management’s performance
•  Value creation, achievement of strategic objectives and enhancing performance
RULE XI: FOCUS ON THE IMPORTANCE OF CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

•  Ensuring balance between the Company and society goals 
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INTRODUCTION

The Board of Noor Financial Investment Company ensures placing a strategy that reflects the Company’s vision in line with good 
governance practices. Through this strategy, the Company aims to maintain high standards of integrity in all transactions, in 
addition to complying with the regulatory instructions issued by the Capital Markets Authority.

The Board of Directors approved the Company’s organizational structure along with updating various policies, procedures, and 
systems aligned with the vision and objectives targeting sound management practices and pursuant to the highest levels of good 
governance. 

This reflects the Board and the Executive Management’s profound belief in the importance of compliance with all laws and 
regulations that govern the Company’s activities, in addition to the continuous review and update of the regulatory policies on 
governance, disclosure and transparency pursuant to the best practices that also serves the Company, its shareholders and 
stakeholders.

Attached is the Company’s Annual Corporate Governance Report reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors for presentation 
to our shareholders illustrating a summary of the implemented corporate governance parameters.

Dr. Fahad Sulaiman Al-Khaled

Chairman
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•  Registering, coordinating, and archiving Board minutes of meetings

Board meetings are called for by the board secretary at the request of the Chairman. The meeting agenda along with all related 
documents are circulated to all board members prior to the meeting in a timely manner (three working days – unless in the case 
of urgent board meetings) enabling the members to review the matters to be addresses and its related documents. 
All board meetings are documented by the board secretary, whereby all discussions and deliberations in-line with the meeting 
agenda are recorded and documented in the meeting minutes. Board member objections (if any) are documented in the 
meeting minutes. Meeting minutes are drafted by the board secretary after the end of the meeting and are printed on the 
Company’s letterhead, circulated and signed by all attending members (including invitees). The board secretary safekeeps all 
board meeting minutes in a safe, whereby access to these documents cannot be reach without the knowledge and approval of 
the board secretary.  

RULE II: ESTABLISH APPROPRIATE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

•  Defining the roles, responsibilities, duties and authorities of Board Members and Executive Management 
Board of Directors and Committee charters have been drafted and approved by the Board of Directors in accordance with 
laws and instructions issued by regulatory authorities, whereby the duties, responsibilities of the Board and its Committees are 
included. Authorities provided to Executive Management are granted considering the nature of the Company’s activities and 
operations to achieve its objectives and strategy, in addition to assessing the importance of such authorities to manage day to 
day operations. 

In addition to the above, the Board of Directors approved an authority matrix (operational and financial) that defines the 
authorities of the Board of Directors and Executive Management. The matrix is revised (periodically) in accordance with and 
considering operational requirements. The authorities are revised to ensure that no absolute power is granted to either the 
Board of Directors or Executive Management. Board of Directors’ duties and responsibilities include: 

    The Board’s roles and responsibilities have been specified as the following:

1. Setting various policies and procedures that govern the activities of the Board of Directors, Executive Management and 
    Company’s business activities, and ensuring that these policies are transparent and clear, assisting the decision-making  
     process and achieving good governance principles as per the governance system approved by the Board of Directors and 
     placing a monitoring program for it.
2. The formation of the Board Committees (Audit, Risk, Nomination and Remunerations, and Credit) and approving 
     the  charters that govern its activities and operations.
3.  The Board of Directors periodically ensures the sufficiency and effectiveness of the internal control systems in the Company 
   (and subsidiaries) through reports presented by internal audit. Additionally, ensuring the implementation of appropriate 
   control systems to measure and manage risks that are presented transparently to stakeholders and related parties 
       (when required). The Chairman of the Board ensures that all Board members are provided with complete, accurate and timely 
     information to resolve appropriate decisions.  
4.  Monitoring the performance of each Board member and members of Executive Management pursuant to the set objective   
     key performance indicators.  
5.  Prepare the annual report to be presented at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. 
6.  Placing strategies increasing company profitability and overseeing its implementation. 

•  Significant Board achievements and resolutions during the year
 The Board of Directors has convened 11 times during the financial year ended on 31 December 2022 (in addition to passing      
 17 resolutions by circulation). 

    The most significant achievements during the year are as follows: 
1. Reduction of Company debts 
2. Increase the Company’s share book value 
3. The enhancement and improvement of Company operations that resulted in distributing dividends and bonus shares 
    to shareholders. 

•  Formation of independent and specialized committees

The Board formed four specialized committees (detailed later) with the purpose of aiding and assisting the Board to carry out its 
duties efficiently and effectively. Enough independent Board members were also appointed in the Board Committees to include 
non-executive and independent Board members in accordance with regulatory requirements and internal mandates that include 
duties, duration, authorities granted during that tenure, and Board oversight, in addition to reporting to the Board of Directors on 
the results of its activities and resolutions through periodic reports. 
Board Committees formed are as follows: 
1. Audit Committee 
2. Risk Committee 
3. Nominations and Remunerations Committee.
4. Credit Committee 
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1. Board Audit Committee:

• Committee duties and specialties 

The Committee reinforces the Company’s compliance culture through ensuring the soundness and integrity the financial 
statements. Further, it ensures the efficiency and effectiveness of the implemented internal control systems within the Company. 

Further, the Committee reviews the interim and annual financial statements of the Company presenting its recommendations 
to the Board of Directors. Additionally, it presents its recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the appointment,
re-appointment, or replacement of the Company’s external auditors, along with ensuring their independence. The Committee 
also assesses the sufficiency of the internal controls implemented within the Company in addition to its functional oversight of 
internal audit. 

• Audit Committee Members:

• Significant Committee achievements and resolutions during the year 
•  Review and discussion of the interim and annual financial statements along with holding periodic meetings with the external auditor.
• Discussion and presentation of recommendations to the Board of Directors on the appointment and/or reappointment of
    the external auditor.
• Review transactions with related parties (after the review and recommendations of the Board Risk Committee) submitting
    its recommendations to the Board of Directors. 
• Oversee the sufficiency and effectiveness of the implemented internal controls through review and discussion of the internal 
    audit reports in addition to holding meetings with the internal auditor on a frequent basis. 
•  Review and approve the internal audit plan. 
•   Prepare the Audit Committee Report along with recommending it to the Board of Directors to present the same to the shareholders 
    at the Annual General Meeting. 

2.  Board Risk Management Committee: 

• Committee duties and specialties 

The Committee’s main activities are to define, measure, monitor and manage all risk types the Company is exposed to, through 
formulating and reviewing strategies and policies including an assessment to the risk management systems and mechanisms, 
determining any improvements and, assisting the Board of Directors to define the acceptable levels of risk of the Company. 
Further, the Committee ensures that the Company does not exceed those set limits. 

• Risk Committee Members:
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•  Significant Committee achievements and resolutions during the year 
•  Review and discussion of the quarterly risk reports issued by Risk Management.  
•   Review transactions with related parties and submitting recommendations to the Board of Directors and submitting the proposed/
    expected transactions with related parties for the financial year ending 31 December 2023. 

3.  Board Nomination and Remunerations Committee:

 

• Committee duties and specialties 

The activities of the Committee include review and recommending the nomination and/or renomination of Board members and 
ensuring that independent Board members maintain their independent status. The Committee also reviews all policies and internal 
mandates related to granting benefits and remunerations to the Board of Directors and Executive Management and all Company 
staff. Further, the Committee submits its recommendations to the Board of Directors granting remunerations and/or benefits to the 
Board, Executive Management and Company staff in addition to ensuring that these amounts are included in the annual report 
prepared by the Committee to present to the General Assembly for approval. In addition to the above, the Committee oversees 
the annual performance of the Board members, Board committees and Executive Management. 

•  Nomination and Remunerations Committee Members:

•  Significant Committee achievements and resolutions during the year 
•   Recommending to the Board of Directors the remunerations of the Board of Directors, Board Committees, Executive Management 
    and Company staff 
•  Amendments to the Human Resources policy regarding benefits and remunerations 

4.  Board Credit Committee: 

•  Committee duties and specialties 

The main activities of the Committee are to define and determine the credit limits to customers and clients in accordance with 
the instructions issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait, in addition to examining and approving (or rejecting) financing requests 
and/or renewal of credit facilities. Further, the Committee reviews settlements for defaulting clients and extension of credit limits 
in-line with the Company’s credit policy and CBK issued instructions.   

•  Credit Committee Members 

•   Significant Committee achievements and resolutions during the year 
 •   Review and monitoring the sufficiency and extent of compliance to the credit policy 
 •   Approval of credit facilities to various clients. 
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 • Enabling Board Members to obtain accurate and timely information and data

The board secretary provides the Board of Directors with sufficient information regarding the items that will be address and 
discussed in the Board meetings prior to three days from the meeting (except in urgent Board meeting cases). This allows Board 
members to review all related documents and information enabling them to reach the most appropriate decision. The board 
secretary also documents all meeting discussions in meeting minutes that are dated, serialized and safekept in a dedicated 
register. The register also includes meeting attendees and voting regarding the Board’s resolutions during the meeting. Further, 
the board secretary ensures that meeting agendas and its related documents are appropriately communicated in a timely 
manner to all members. 
Board members are enabled to immediately and fully reach information and documents or Company records though the board 
secretary as all information and documents are organized to reach Board members in a timely manner. Further, Executive 

Management provides the Board and its Committees (through the board secretary) all documents, and information required for 
appropriate and timely decision-making. 

RULE III: RECRUIT HIGHLY QUALIFIED CANDIDATES FOR THE MEMBERS OF A BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AND THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

•  Nomination & Remunerations Committee formation

The Nomination and Remunerations Committee consist of 5 Board members including an independent Board member and is 
chaired by a non-executive member. Committee members with professional expertise in human resources and administration 
were selected in line with the nature of the Committee and the Company’s activities.

Members with technical, leadership and management capabilities were selected to act independently and fulfill the requirements 
of its operations, as previously mentioned.  

•  Remunerations awarded to the Board of Directors and Executive Management 

This report is attached in the section relating to remunerations in the Corporate Governance Report to be presented and recited 
to the General Assembly in-line with the governance principles.

RULE IV: SAFEGUARD THE INTEGRITY OF FINANCIAL REPORTING

• Declarations on the soundness and integrity of financial reporting 
The Chief Executive Officer, Head of Finance, and his deputies provided declarations regarding the Company’s financial 
reporting, that they are presented soundly and fairly; they present all financial aspects of the Company, including data and 
operational results; and they are prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards approved by the Capital 
Markets Authority and other regulatory authorities. 
Further, the Board of Directors have presented the same declaration to the General Assembly regarding the soundness and 
fairness of the financial reporting as they are prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards approved by 
the Capital Markets Authority. 

•  Audit Committee formation 

The Audit Committee consists of five members, two of which are independent members. The Committee ensured that it does 
not include the Chairman of the Board of Directors or an executive Board Member. The Committee also includes one member 
possesses the educational qualifications and practical experience in the accounting and financial fields. In the case of conflicting 
resolutions between the recommendations of the Audit Committee and the resolutions of the Board of Directors, the same is 
clearly documented detailing such recommendations and reasons of the Board’s rejection to those recommendations. 

•  External auditor independence and objectivity 

The Audit Committee recommended the reappointment of the external auditor for the financial year ended 31 December 2023, 

after ensuring that the external auditor has satisfied all regulatory requirements regarding the registration of external auditors.
Further, independence of the external auditor from the Board of Directors and/or Executive Management was ensured, in 
addition to confirming that the auditor does not perform any addition services to the Company except those related to the review 
and audit, which may affect the auditor’s objectivity and/or independency.

RULE V: APPLY SOUND SYSTEMS OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT

• Establishing an independent risk management unit 

A Risk Management unit was established with complete independence as it directly reports to the Board Risk Committee. Further 
the Risk Management Unit possesses various authorities to fulfill its duties optimally without financial authorities and powers.

• Risk Management Committee formation 

The Risk Committee consists of four members and is chaired by a non-executive member. The Committee ensured it does not 
include the Chairman of the Board of Directors for additional independence and authority.
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   The tenure of the Committee is three years as per the Committee Charter defining its activities. The Committee reports directly 
   to the Board of Directors in-line with its defined duties and authorities.

• Systems of internal control and audit

The Company’s internal controls and risk management systems are effective and efficient. The Board of Directors has approved 
an organizational structure commensurate the Company’s strategy, activities and approved policies and procedures for all 
Company departments. The extent of these systems’ efficiency and effectiveness are monitored by the independent internal 
audit unit. The policies, procedures, and duties clarify and define for each position the authorities and lines of communication 
between the different level ensuring dual control and segregation of duties avoiding conflict of duties. 

An Internal Control Review (ICR) report in-line with regulatory requirements was prepared by an external auditor (other than the 
Company’s external audit firm) ensuring the efficiency of the internal control systems. This report is issued on an annual basis 
and a copy provided to the Capital Markets Authority. 

Further, the Company possesses internal controls that enable staff to report any wrongdoings in-line with the whistleblowing 
policies and procedures manual approved by the Board of Directors, in addition to communicating the same to all Company staff 
and placing a whistleblowing reporting form on the Company’s website. 

•  Establishing an independent internal audit unit 

The Internal Audit Unit was established to directly report to the Audit Committee whereby this unit possesses independence. 
An internal audit manager has been appointed by the Board of Directors based on the Audit Committee’s recommendation. The 
Board has defined the roles, duties, and responsibilities of the internal audit unit. 

RULE VI: PROMOTE CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

•  Professional code of conduct and ethical values

The Board of Directors placed various criteria and measures reinforcing the ethical standards and understanding of the 
Company through approving a Code of Conduct that is applicable to Board Members and all Company staff, whereby Executive 
Management has been directed to execute the objectives of the Company in accordance with the above mentioned criteria and 
measures. The Code of Conduct defines the required duties of Board Members and Company staff. 

The Code of Conduct also includes various factors and standards mandating the Board of Directors, Executive Management 
and all Company staff to comply to all rules and regulations, representing all shareholders, and abide with whatever is in the best 
interest of the Company and its shareholders and not only serve the interests of a specific group of people. 

The Code of Conduct also prohibits Board Members and Executive Management using their official position influencing the gain 
of any personal interests, the use of Company assets and resources to gain personal benefits, and to utilize the Company’s 
assets and/or resources in the best possible manner achieving Company objectives, in addition to ensuring a stringent system 
and mechanism prohibiting Board Members and/or Company staff from exploiting information they are exposed to due to their 
position. Furthermore, prohibiting the disclosure of any information or data related to the Company except in the cases allowed 
in accordance with regulatory and/or legal mandates. 

•  Managing and limiting conflicts of interest 
The Board of Directors approved a conflict-of-interest policy that includes clear examples of conflict-of-interest cases and the 
method of treatment and dealing with the same, without prejudice to the cases stipulated in the Companies Law. 
The conflict-of-interest policy includes mandating Board members to disclose any personal interests in contracts/agreements 
with the Company, whereby such disclosure is documented in the meeting minutes. Those Board Members are prohibited from 
voting on any resolution related to the matter. 

Furthermore, the Chairman of the Board of Directors discloses and reports to the General Assembly at the time of the meeting, 
on those activities and contracts that Board Members have a personal interest. Further, this report includes another report 
prepared by the Company’s external auditor. 

RULE VII: ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH-QUALITY DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

• Disclosure of material information 

The Company developed a policy for accurate disclosure approved by the Board. It is updated as per regulatory instructions. 
The policy includes criteria for the disclosure of material information (as per the Executive Bylaws of the Capital Markets 
Authority), identified aspects, fields, and features of disclosure, the departments responsible for the disclosure as well as the 
disclosure process, method of presentation and the entities to which the disclosure shall be made, in addition to the other means 
of disclosure represented in the Company’s website.
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•  Board of Directors and Executive Management disclosure register 

The Company possesses a special register for Board of Directors and Executive Management’s disclosures that is safekept 
with the Compliance function. Further, the Compliance function is informed prior to any trades by the Board of Directors and/or 
Executive Management or by their minor children on the shares of the Company, the Parent Company, or subsidiary companies 
that they are considered as insiders in.  

•  Investor Affairs Unit

An investor affairs unit was established along with appointing an employee for this unit. The employee was given appropriate 
independence executing the activities of the unit, whereby the unit reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer.  The Company’s 
website was developed and updated to include all required information to be provided by the investor affairs unit. 

•  Developing an IT infrastructure related to disclosures 

Information technology is considered a main pillar in the Company’s activities. Automated systems were implemented to monitor 
the customers’ portfolios and the units’ holders of the investment funds managed by the Company. Periodic client reports can 
be easily accessed and obtained from such systems. 

Further, various periodic reports are submitted to the Board of Directors in a timely manner, whereby the Company expanded 
its reliance on information technology in order to communicate with shareholders, investors, and stakeholders by establishing 
a separate section on the Company’s website for corporate governance and another for investors affairs whereby all new 
information is presented to assist the shareholders, stakeholders, current, and potential investors in exercising their rights and 
assess the performance of the Company. 

A new section related to public disclosures has been developed, and other to present the financial statements of the Company, 
whereby the development of the website would upload the financial statements of the Company as soon as the financial results 
of the reported period are disclosed. 

RULE VIII: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

•  Define and protect the general rights of shareholders ensuring fairness and equality between all shareholders
The Company’s articles of association and internal regulations include the procedures and conditions necessary to ensure that 
all shareholders may exercise their rights fairly and with equality without prejudice to applicable laws, regulations, resolutions, 
and instructions issued in this regard. 

Shareholders’ rights include listing the ownership value of their investment in the Company records, disposal of shares, 
including registration and transfer of ownership, receiving dividends as per the allocation their shares, and receiving a share 
in Company’s assets  in case of liquidation, in addition to being provided information regarding the Company’s activities, its 
operational and investment strategy regularly, along with participating in meetings of the shareholders’ general assembly and 
voting on the resolutions, as well as electing the Board of Directors, whereby the Company is committed to treat all shareholders 
fairly and equally without discrimination.

•  Shareholders register and records

A contract was signed for keeping shareholders’ records with a clearing agency licensed by Capital Markets Authority “Kuwait 
Clearing Company” which is responsible for recording, maintaining, and updating the shareholders’ records. The clearing 
agency provides the Company on a weekly basis a copy of the shareholders’ register.

 The register contains the information related to the name and shareholder name and number, number of shares held at the 
date of the report, in addition to the personal information available the clearing agency with respect to the contact numbers of 
the shareholder, his address and other information.

•  Encouraging shareholders to contribute and vote in Annual General Meetings

The right of shareholders to participate in the Company’s general assembly and voting on resolutions is an inherent right for all 
shareholders regardless of their different levels, whereby the Company invites its shareholders to the general assembly based 
on the invitation of the Board of Directors after the end of the financial year by three months or whenever deemed necessary. 

Invitations to the shareholders include the meeting agenda, date, time, and location of the meeting are announced in two daily 
newspapers two weeks prior to the meeting date, in addition to a reminder announcement one week prior to the meeting date. 
Further, the invitation is publicly disclosed on Boursa Kuwait website and the Company’s website. Shareholders have the right 
to assign someone to attend on their behalf the general assembly through a power of attorney. 

The Company ensures prior to the general assembly the availability of all information and data related to the meeting agenda 
to shareholders, specifically, the Board of Directors’ Report, External Auditor’s Report, financial statements via the Company’s 
website or physical presence at the Company’s official location. 
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RULE IX: RECOGNIZE THE ROLES OF STAKEHOLDERS

•  Protection of stakeholders’ rights 
The Company possesses policies that include guidelines and procedures ensuring the protection and acknowledgment of the 
stakeholder rights. Stakeholders are eligible for compensation in case of any breach of their rights thereof, in accordance with 
the laws issued regarding the same. 

•  Encouraging stakeholders to monitor Company activities 

The Company believes that stakeholders have an important role in the Company’s success. The Board of Directors recognizes 
the Company’s success is a result of the collective efforts of various parties including shareholders, lenders, and employees. 

The Company’s policies, procedures, and practices highlight the importance of respecting stakeholders’ rights in accordance 
with the relevant laws and regulations. The Company also encourages stakeholders to monitor its various activities. 

Further, the Company has developed mechanisms and frameworks maximizing benefits from the contributions of its stakeholders, 
in a manner consistent with achieving its objectives along with allowing access of Company related information and data to 
stakeholders. Moreover, the Company set appropriate mechanisms for stakeholders to report any wrongdoings by the Company 
against them to the Board of Directors along with providing appropriate protection for those who report such wrongdoings.  

RULE X: ENCOURAGE AND ENHANCE PERFORMANCE

•  Mechanisms for Board Members and Executive Management to receive regular trainings

The Company has set orientation programs for all Board members, employees, and those newly appointed ensuring the full 
comprehension of the Company’s activities and operations. These programs include the Company’s strategy, objectives, 
financial and operational of all Company activities and operations, in addition to the legal and regulatory obligations and their 
duties and responsibilities assigned to them along with their rights and authorities. 

Appropriate training programs, workshops, and conferences were conducted to current Board Members and Executive 
Management to enhance and develop their skills and to continuously update them with the recent developments to assist them 
in deploying their responsibilities. 

•  Evaluation of the Board of Directors as a whole, individually and Executive Management’s performance
The Company possesses systems and mechanisms to evaluate the performance of each Board Member and members of 
Executive Management on an annual basis through a set of key performance indicators related to the extent of achieving 
Company strategic goals, the quality of risk management, and the efficiency of the Company’s internal control systems. 

•  Value creation, achievement of strategic objectives and enhancing performance

The Board of Directors endeavors to create value within the Company in the short, medium, and long term. The Board of 
Directors has approved a Code of Conduct, that includes procedures to comply with the highest professional standards and 
organizational values. The  Code of Conduct also considers the extent of compliance with the organizational values with staff 
performance to ensure achieving the Company’s strategic goals and objectives.  

One of the most significant efforts to encourage institutional values within the Company, was providing the opportunity for staff 
of all levels to present their ideas and initiatives to Executive Management, whereby discussion sessions are held periodically 
between Executive Management and staff of all levels to discuss the ideas that can be applied to improve and enhance current 
work procedures that will positively impact the Company’s operations.

RULE XI: FOCUS ON THE IMPORTANCE OF CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

•  Ensuring balance between Company and society goals

The Company possesses a Board approved policy ensuring the balance between Company goals and societal goals. The 
Company implemented various initiatives that severs society such as supporting the Bayt Abdullah from the belief that the 
Company has responsibility towards society (a detailed report on the initiatives of the Company is attached).
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Board Audit Committee Report and Internal Control Review Report

Board Audit Committee ( BAC  or  Committee ) Formation
The BAC membership comprises of five Committee members, of which two members are independent members thereby ensuring 
neutrality and impartiality in carrying out the responsibilities.

BAC Meetings 2022

During the year 2022, ten meetings of the BAC were held, wherein they discussed matters pertaining to the Company along with 
providing their recommendations and taking various decisions as detailed below.

Tasks and Duties performed by the BAC

1.  The BAC reviewed the draft financial statements of the Company and recommended to the Board for approval for following periods:
   •  Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021

   •  Interim financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2022

   •  Interim financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2022

   •  Interim financial statements for the period ended 30 September 2022

2.  The BAC reviewed the following reports and provided appropriate recommendations to the Board:
   •  Company’s Internal Control Review Report (ICR) for the year 2021, which was submitted to CMA.
   •  Quality Assurance Review (QAR) for Internal Audit Unit for the years 2019-2021 prepared by BDO Al-Nisf & Partners.
   •  Detailed Internal Control Report of the Company prepared by Internal Audit Unit.
   •  Report of the transactions with related parties during the year 2021. 
   •  Penalties report for the year 2021. 
   •  Complaints report for the year 2021 and noted no complaints were lodged during the year.
   •  Internal audit reports of Administration, HR, Legal, Settlements, IT, Finance, AML-CFT, Marketable Securities, Risk
      Management, Alternative Investments, Corporate Governance & Compliance and Investors Relations Departments/Units. 

3.  The BAC recommended to the Board the reappointment of Abdullatif M. Al-Aiban of M/s Grant Thornton – Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban  
     & Partners – as the external auditor for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

4.  The BAC approved to engage the following:
•  SFAI - Abdullatif Jowhar & Partners for the Internal Control Review Report (ICR) for the year ended 31 December 2021.
•  BDO Al-Nisf & Partners, Kuwait for Quality Assurance Review (QAR) for Internal Audit Unit for the years 2019-2021.
•   RSM Al-Bazie Consulting to assist the Internal Audit Unit in carrying out internal audit and preparing internal audit reports.

5.  Additionally, the BAC carried out following during the year 2022:
•  Based on the criteria set for external auditor’s performance assessment, the Committee assessed their performance after 
  surveying the views of the Executive Management, Financial Management and Chairman of the Board of Directors.
•  Reviewed various related party transactions during the year 2022 and provided its relevant recommendations to the Board.
•  Held periodic meetings with external auditors, M/s Grant Thornton, on the audit and review findings. Grant Thornton provided 
   the details of the overall audit and review of consolidated financial statements, status of their work and overview of findings.
• Held four meetings with the internal auditor to discuss the internal audit report findings and status of the implimentation     
   of corrective actions. 

Internal Control Review Report

The BAC in 2022 has overseen the quality and integrity of internal audit practices at Noor Financial Investment Company. To 
assess this, the BAC held ten meetings during the year with at least one meeting being held each quarter. Some members of the 
executive management whom the Committee deemed necessary were asked to attend the meetings as required.

The Committee’s opinion on the internal controls
The BAC oversaw the adequacy of the Company’s controls and systems. No significant issues in internal controls were noted 
during the year and whilst some minor issues were reported in the application of controls, the committee was satisfied that these 
were addressed by the management and had no material impact on the overall operations of the Company.

Scope and methodology

The overall evaluation of the internal control systems for the year 2022 was carried out in accordance with the Capital Market 
Authority (Module 15, Article 6-8) instructions encompassing the following aspects:

• Procedures of audit and supervision of efficiency and effectiveness of Internal control systems necessary to protect 
  the Company’s  assets, accuracy of financial statements, efficiency of operations, including the administrative, financial, 
   and accounting aspects thereof.
• Compare development of risk factors and the current systems to evaluate the extent of efficiency of the Company’s daily
   business operations, and its ability to manage the market changes.
•  Evaluate performance of the executive management in applying internal audit systems.
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•  Reasons of any weakness in applying the internal control, which affect or may affect the Company’s financial performance 
   as well as the procedures followed by the Company to resolve identified issues.

Important Outcomes

The important outcomes for above-mentioned meetings are as follows: 

• The BAC reported that it was satisfied with the Company’s internal control procedures, which are based on a solid and
   professional framework, being implemented efficiently, and that all necessary actions have been or are being taken to rectify
   the weaknesses reported during the year.

• The BAC assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems, including Information technology security
  and controls, and reviewed the results of Internal and External Auditors’ review of internal controls by obtaining reports on 
   significant findings, recommendations, and management’s responses thereto.

• The BAC reviewed the key assumptions used in preparation of the financial statements. Moreover, the BAC placed 
   particular emphasis on the fair presentation, reasonableness of the judgment applied, and the appropriateness of significant 
   accounting policies used in their preparation.

• The BAC reviewed and evaluated the financial statements for the reasonableness, compliance with the accounting 
   standards and regulatory requirements, completeness and accuracy, prior to issue and approval by the Board of Directors
   and gave opinion and recommendations with respect thereto.

• The BAC discussed the risk assessment for all activities of the company, inspected the level of risk identified. This formed
   the basis for the annual Internal Audit plan, which was discussed and adopted.

• The BAC supervised and reviewed the activities carried out by the Internal Audit function and reviewed the Internal Audit plan.

Reyadh S. Edrees
BAC Chairman
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Remunerations Report for the Financial Year ended  31 December 2022

First: Remunerations and allowances to Board of Directors policy: 

The Board of Directors approved the remunerations policy (“the policy”) for Noor Financial Investment Company (“Noor”) that 
covers remunerations to the Board of Directors. The policy’s objective is connecting the remunerations of the Board of Directors 
with managing the Company and its risks to an acceptable level, along with the required caliber and ensuring transparency. The 
policy stipulates the following:

• Total remunerations shall not exceed 10% of the Company’s net profits (after deducting the depreciation, reserves, 
 and dividends of not less than 5% of the Company’s capital, or any higher ratio of the same, as provided for  
  in the Company’s articles of association).

• Remunerations to the Board of Directors must be approved by the Annual General Meeting, as proposed by the Board  
   Nominations and Remunerations Committee (“BNRC”) and the recommendation of the Board of Directors.
   
• The independent Board Director may be exempt from the maximum limit of the remuneration if approved by the Annual General Meeting.
  • Remunerations and allowances to the Board of Directors consist of three of the members of the Board of Directors are 
   composed of three segments:

      Part One: Remunerations and allowances for Board meetings:

  1. The Board Membership remuneration. This is an annual membership remuneration amount granted to Board Members in 
          accordance with the Board approved performance indicators, and considering the Company’s achieved profits, in accordance  
        with the provisions of Article 198 of the Kuwaiti Companies Law, whereby its approval is subject to the Annual General Meeting.
    2.  Allowance for meeting attendance: Board Members are entitled to receive a fixed allowance for attending Board meetings
        in accordance with the approved policy.

 

     Part Two: Committee membership 

   
       The Board of Director approves the remunerations of the Board Committees, upon recommendation of the BNRC as follows: 

       1. Variable remunerations: 

Variable remunerations aim to encourage outstanding performance of committee members in-line with the general framework
of risks to the Company. 

Variable remunerations are allocated based on the performance of each committee member and the committee’s performance   
in general. Remunerations are allocated based on the appraisal system for committee member performance and with the 
discretion of the BNRC.
Variable remunerations include annual cash remunerations and incentives, that are determined on annual basis by the BNRC  
prior to Board approval. The performance appraisal process is carried out in accordance with the performance appraisal policy 
regarding Board of Directors and the Committees, approved by the Board of Directors.

    
       2. Meetings Attendance Allowance: 

      Committee Members are entitled to receive a fixed allowance for attending meetings in accordance with the approved policy.

      Part Three: Special assignments 

These are granted in case the Board of Directors assign to any of its director(s) certain tasks in accordance with article 
No. 185 of the Companies Law, that stipulates the following: 
“The Board of Directors may distribute the work among its members in accordance with the nature of the Company’s 
business. The Board of Directors may also authorize one of its directors, one of its committees or a third party to 
perform a certain business or more, oversight an activity of the Company’s activities, or exercising certain authorities 
or jurisdictions vested in the Board”.

Second: Executive Management remunerations policy  

 Remunerations to Executive Management considers the environment in which the Company exercises its business, realized
 results and the Company’s endurance of risks. These regulations comprise the following main components: 

•  Fixed Remunerations
Fixed remunerations are defined considering the level of the assigned responsibilities, and the career path for each member 
of the Company’s Executive Management. Fixed remunerations are agreed upon contractually with Executive Management 
members considering their skills, competencies and experience utilized to carry out their occupational roles. Fixed remunerations 
are reviewed on periodic basis. 
Fixed remunerations include salaries, allowances and benefits within the salary structure and job grades approved by the Board 
of Directors.
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•  Variable Remunerations
Variable remunerations aim to promote outstanding staff performance, in accordance with the Company’s general risk framework. 
Variable remunerations are defined based on staff performance, and the organizational sector to which the staff belongs to, 
in addition to the Company’s performance in general. These remunerations are assigned through the individual performance 
appraisal system.
Variable remunerations include annual cash remunerations, incentives that are determined on an annual basis by the BNRC 
prior to Board approval. The performance appraisal process is carried out in accordance with the performance appraisal policy 
approved by the Board of Directors.

Third: Balancing Between Fixed and Variable Remunerations 

Noor implements necessary measures ensuring an appropriate balance between fixed and variable remunerations allowing the 
Company to change variable remunerations in cases of weak or negative financial performance. The ratio of the fixed and variable 
remunerations is reviewed and determined by the Board of Directors annually, based on recommendation of the BNRC.

Remuneration schedules

First: Remunerations to the Board of Directors and its Committees 

1.  Board of Directors remunerations and benefits for the year ended 31 December 2022: 

2.  Special assignments  

In accordance with Article 185 of the Kuwaiti Companies’ Law, the Chairman of the Board Directors under the oversight of the 
Board of Directors has carried out special assignments on a continuous basis in addition to his regular responsibilities. 
Accordingly, and after deliberation, the BNRC recommended to the Board of Directors to grant him a special remuneration 
amounting to KD 140,000 (One Hundred Forty Thousand Kuwaiti Dinars) and to include the same in the annual remunerations 
report that is approved by the Board of Directors for presentation to the Annual General Assembly. 

Second: Members of the Executive Management 

Executive Management remunerations granted during the year ended 31 December 2022:

The remunerations report shall be presented in detail at the Company’s Annual General Meeting in accordance with governance principles. 

Nominations & Remunerations Committee Chairman
Abdul Ghani Mohamed Saleh Behbehani

7 177.5 230 27--- 12
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Report for the transactions with the Related Parties 

For the year ended 31st December 2022

1. List of significant transactions:

2. Significant balances of related parties included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

2.1 Due from related parties 

   - Due from other related parties  
   - Dividend receivable from associate (net).

2.2 Due to related parties 

   - Due to Ultimate Parent Company 
   - Due to other related parties

2.3 Investments in related parties 

  - Investments at fair value through profit or loss
  - Investments at FVTOCI

Dr. Fahad Sulaiman Al-Khaled

Chairman

31 Dec. 2022

KD

16,616

2,970,007

9,857

547,500

66,303

6,508,314
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report for 2022

We are pleased to submit this report that highlights Noor Financial Investment Company’s role in corporate social responsibility 
(“CSR”) and community service in 2022.  

Noor Financial Investment Company ensures that CSR is at the priority of its interests, stemming from the belief of our patriotic and 
humanistic duties to play an effective role to build our society and enable its individuals, and our appreciation of the important role the 
private sector plays to positively contribute to serving the community. As such, and due to the significance of this subject, Noor strives 
to support humanitarian projects and play an effective and positive role in contributing to humanistic and development initiatives in 
the State of Kuwait. 

During 2022 Noor placed child support and caring initiative at the top of its priorities and focused all its contributions towards 
improving the quality of life for those children that suffer from those diseases that limit or threaten their lives, based on our belief that 
each child has a right to receive appropriate health, psychological and palliative care from specialized places throughout the period 
of treatment. In this context, the Noor Financial Investment Company collaborated with 
various projects and contributions during the year with Kuwait Association for the Care 
of Children in Hospital (“KACCH”) and Bayt Abdullah Children’s Hospice (“BACCH”). 
These are non-for-profit charitable organizations that provide psychological, health, 
social and palliative care to children with incurable diseases and their families in 
Kuwaiti hospitals and Bayt Abdullah Hospice. 

1.  Gift give-away to children  

Noor held a give away for children that receive treatments under BACCH and 
KACCH. This originates from our willingness to psychologically support and 
encourage these children throughout their treatment.

2. Sharing the joy of Gergea’an with the children and their families    
Reinforcing the social outreach attitude and strengthening the importance of being 
involved in humanitarian events, Noor Financial Investment Company organized 
a Gergea’an event for the affected children and their families in collaboration 
with KACCH and BACCH. The event included various entertainment activities in 
addition to the distribution of Gergea’an presents that brought joy and happiness to 
these children and parents alike. The organization of this event stemmed from the 
Company’s aspiration to share such a beloved customary tradition that is a part of 
the inherited Kuwaiti culture.  

 3. Organizing an educational and entertainment workshop for the children and parents

In 2022, Noor Financial Investment Company continued its social contributions in 
the field of caring for sick children and their families, as the Company organized an 
educational and entertainment workshop in cooperation with KACCH and BACCH. 
The workshop included educational and scientific experiments, in addition to 
entertainment competitions, that ended with a drawing workshop and distribution of 
presents to uplift the children’s spirits and bring joy to their families. 

4.  Spreading the spirit of giving and volunteering  

As a humanistic initiative, Noor Financial Investment Company distributed symbolic 
gifts that highlighted KACCH and BACCH, whereby the artistic works of the affected 
children was included in the printing of the annual calendar. Further, it consisted of 
information on how to assist in the social and psychological support services. Noor 
sought through this initiative to consolidate the cooperation between the members 
of society and charitable non-for-profit organizations and spreading awareness of 
giving and volunteering works for all ages of individuals. 

CSR Committee members at Noor Maysan Al Dakheel, Nasir Najadah, and 
Abdulla Al Mansour with Bayt Abdullah representatives Dr. Maytham Hassan 
Executive Manager and Basma Ismail.

Noor company representatives with volunteers and representatives of 
KACCH 

Noor company representatives with volunteers and representatives of 
KACCH & BACCH
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Lastly, what Noor has presented in 2022 was part of our humanistic duties and our responsibility towards our society. We will 
continue our endeavors with the support of our Board of Directors and the efforts of the Company’s staff to elevate our initiatives 
to match our ambitions and vision supporting all development efforts and serve our beloved country. 

Dr. Fahad Sulaiman Al-Khaled

Chairman
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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Noor Financial Investment Company – KPSC (the ‘‘Parent Company”) 
and Subsidiaries, (collectively the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use in the 
State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Equity Method of Accounting
The Group has an interest in investment in associate accounted for using the equity method of accounting which is significant to 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in this investment is initially stated at 
cost, and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of this investment, less any 
impairment. The complexity of the Group’s control environment and our ability as Group’s auditor to obtain an appropriate level 
of understanding of this entity including any related party transactions were significant to our audit. Due to these factors and the 
significance of the investment accounted for using equity method of accounting to the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
we consider this as a key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, determining the nature and extent of audit procedures to be carried out for this 
investment. During our audit we communicated with the component auditors. We also provided instructions to the component 
auditors covering the significant areas and risks to be addressed including the identification of related parties and transactions. 
Furthermore, we evaluated the Group’s methodology and testing of the key assumptions used by the Group in determining 
the recoverable amount based on value-in-use. We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in Note 17 to the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Valuation of investment properties 
The Group’s investment properties comprise of land and buildings located in Kuwait, Jordan and the United Kingdom. The total 
carrying value of the investment properties are significant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and are carried at fair 
value. Management determines the fair value of its investment properties on a periodic basis using external appraisers to support 
the valuation.
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Investment properties are valued using mark to market approach which is based on the latest sale prices of properties within 
similar areas for certain investment properties, and income capitalization approach which is based on estimates and assumptions 
such as rental values, occupancy rates, discount rates, financial stability of tenants, market knowledge and historical transactions 
for certain other properties. Further, the disclosures relating to the assumptions are relevant, given the estimation uncertainty and 
sensitivity of the valuations. Given the size and complexity of the valuation of investment properties and the importance of the 
disclosures relating to the assumptions used in the valuation, we identified this as a key audit matter. The Group’s disclosures 
about its investment properties are included in Notes 18 and 31.4 to the consolidated financial statements. 

As part of our audit procedures amongst others, we have evaluated the above assumptions and estimates made by management 
and the external appraisers in the valuation and assessed the appropriateness of the data supporting the fair value. We also 
assessed management’s consideration of the competence and independence of the external appraisers. Furthermore, we 
assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures relating to the sensitivity of the assumptions.

Other information included in the Group’s 2022 annual report 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included in the Annual Report 
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditor’s report and we 
expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 after the date of our 
auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained during the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs, as adopted for use in the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also: 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
  design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
   to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
    resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
   control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
  the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
    disclosures made by management. 
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•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
   the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
    and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated financial 
statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of directors relating to these consolidated 
financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that 
we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required 
by the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum 
of  Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No.1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations nor of the Parent Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2022 

that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

We further report that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, 
concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organisation of banking business, and its related regulations, or of the 
provisions of Law No. 7 of 2010 regarding the Capital Markets Authority and its relevant regulations have occurred during the 
year ended 31 December 2022 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

Abdullatif M. Al-Aiban (CPA)
(Licence No. -94A)
of Grant Thornton – Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Kuwait
6 March 2023
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1.  Incorporation and activities

Noor Financial Investment Company - KPSC (“the Parent Company”) was incorporated in Kuwait on 5 June 1996 and registered 
in the commercial register on 1 February 1997. The Parent Company is listed on Boursa Kuwait and is regulated by the Central 
Bank of Kuwait and the Capital Markets Authority. The Parent Company is a subsidiary of National Industries Group Holding - 
KPSC (“the Ultimate Parent Company”).

The Group comprises the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The details of the subsidiaries 
are described in note 7.

The Parent Company’s principal activities are as follows: 

-  Invest in various economic sectors through the establishment of specialized companies or purchase of shares or stakes 
    in those companies;
-  Act as investment portfolio manager;
-  Fund and brokerage in international trade operations;
-  Collective investment system manager;
-  Act as underwriting agent;
-  Carry out all the services and activities that help developing the financial and monetary market in the State of Kuwait;
-  Trade, by selling and buying, in shares, bonds, Sukuks and other securities listed in Boursa Kuwait and foreign securities
    for the Parent Company’s account only;
-  Invest in real estate, industrial and agricultural sectors of the economy in all types of instruments;
-  Provide funding operations to third parties to buy or lease fixed assets and movables through contracts;
-  Act as investment advisor;
-  Act as custodian;
-  Represent foreign companies the objectives of which are identical with the objectives of the Company in order to market
   their products and services in accordance with the relevant Kuwaiti legislation; 
-  Act as non-registered stockbroker in a stock exchange.

The Parent Company has the right to perform the above-mentioned activities inside and outside the State of Kuwait directly or 
through an agent. The Parent Company may have an interest or participate in any aspect with the entities performing similar works 
or which might assist it in the achievement of its objectives in Kuwait or abroad. The Parent Company may also purchase these 
entities or affiliate with them. Further, the Parent Company may practice works similar or complementary or necessary or related 
to its above-mentioned objectives and may utilize its surplus funds by investing in portfolios and funds managed by specialized 
companies and bodies.    

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is NIG Building, Ground Floor, Shuwaikh, Kuwait (PO Box 3311, Safat 
13034, State of Kuwait). 

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved these consolidated financial statements for issuance on 6 March 2023. 
The general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements 
after issuance.

2.  Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include the measurement 
at fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss, investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and 
investment  properties.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is the functional and presentation currency of 
the Parent Company.

The Group has elected to present the “consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income” in two statements: 
the “consolidated statement of profit or loss” and the “consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”

3.  Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and Interpretations issued by the International 
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Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the IASB, as modified for use by the Government of Kuwait for financial 
services institutions regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”). The modification requires adoption of all IFRSs for such 
institutions, except for the IFRS 9 requirements for measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”) for credit facilities. The CBK 
requires to measure the provision for credit losses at the higher of provision calculated under IFRS 9 in accordance with the CBK 
guidelines, and the provision required by the prudential regulations of the CBK.  

4.  Changes in accounting policies 

4.1  New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new amendments or standards were effective for the current year. 

Standard or Interpretation                                                                       Effective for annual periods beginning
 

IFRS 3 Amendment – Reference to the conceptual framework                             1 January 2022

IAS 16 – Amendments – Proceeds before intended use                                    1 January 2022

IAS 37 – Amendments – Onerous contracts -Cost of fulfilling a contract                1 January 2022

Annual Improvements 2020-2018 Cycle                                                               1 January 2022

IFRS 3 – Reference to the conceptual framework

The amendments add a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine 
whether at the acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of 
IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the 
levy has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise 
contingent assets acquired in a business combination

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 16 Amendments - Proceeds before intended use

The amendment prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling 
items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, an entity will recognise such sales proceeds 
and related cost in profit or loss.

The adoption of the amendment did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 37 Amendments – Onerous contracts- Cost of fulfilling a contract
The amendments specify which costs an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the contract includes 
both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

The amendments are only to be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all of its obligations at the beginning of 
the annual period in which it first applies the amendments.

The adoption of the amendment did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle

Amendment to IAS 1 simplifies the application of IFRS 1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after its parent in 
relation to the measurement of cumulative translation differences. Subsidiary that is a first-time adopter later than its parent might 
have been required to keep two parallel sets of accounting records for cumulative translation differences based on different dates 
of transition to IFRSs. However, the amendment extends the exemption to cumulative translation differences to reduce costs for 
first-time adopters.

Amendment to IFRS 9 relates to the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial Liabilities – In determining whether to 
derecognise a financial liability that has been modified or exchanged, an entity assesses whether the terms are substantially 
different. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial 
liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability.

Amendment to IFRS 16 avoids the potential for confusion in applying IFRS 16 Leases because of how Illustrative Example 13 

accompanying IFRS 16 had illustrated the requirements for lease incentives. Before the amendment, Illustrative Example 13 had 
included as part of the fact pattern a reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements; the example had not explained clearly 
enough the conclusion as to whether the reimbursement would meet the definition of a lease incentive in IFRS 16.
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The IASB decided to remove the potential for confusion by deleting from Illustrative Example 13 the reimbursement relating to 
leasehold improvements.

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

4.2  IASB Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations 
to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies for the first 
period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations 
that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards 
and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Standard or Interpretation                                                                      Effective for annual periods beginning
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments                                                            No stated date
IAS 1 Amendments- Disclosure of accounting policies                                               1 January 2023

IAS 1 Amendments- Classification of liabilities with debt covenants                  1 January 2024

IAS 1 Amendments- Classification of current and non-current                             1 January 2024

IAS 8 Amendments- Definition of accounting estimates                                         1 January 2023

IAS 12 Income taxes- Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising
 from a single transaction                                                                                                 1 January 2023

IFRS 16 Amendments- Leases                                                                             1 January 2024

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments

The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) 
clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate or joint venture, as follows:

•  require full recognition in the investor›s financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or contribution of assets that 
   constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)
•  require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain or loss is recognised 
   only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution of assets occurs by 
an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control of the subsidiary), or by the direct 
sale of the assets themselves.

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, early implementation is allowed. 
Management anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements in future should such transactions arise. 

IAS 1 Amendments – Disclosure of accounting policies

The amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose material accounting policies instead of significant accounting policies.  The 
amendments clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of its nature, even if the related amounts are 
immaterial.
Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of liabilities with debt covenants
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify that classification of liabilities depends only on the covenants that an entity is required to comply 
with on or before the reporting date of the classification of a liability as current or non-current. In addition, an entity has to disclose 
information in the notes that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk that non-current liabilities with covenants 
could become repayable within twelve months.
Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.
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IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of current or non-current
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify the classification of a liability as either current or non-current is based on the entity’s rights at the 
end of the reporting period. Stating management expectations around whether they will defer settlement or not does not impact 
the classification of the liability. It has added guidance about lending conditions and how these can impact classification and has 
included requirements for liabilities that can be settled using an entity’s own instruments.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

IAS 8 Amendments – Definition of accounting estimates
The amendments to IAS 8 inserted the definition of accounting estimates replacing the definition of a change in accounting 
estimates. Accounting estimates are now defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

IAS 16 Amendments – Leases

The amendments to IFRS 16 requires a seller-lessee to measure the right-of-use asset arising from a sale and leaseback 
transaction at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset that relates to the right of use the seller-lessee retains. 
Accordingly, in a sale and leaseback transaction the seller-lessee recognises only the amount of any gain or loss that relates 
to the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor. The initial measurement of the lease liability that arise from a sale and leaseback 
transaction is a consequence of how the seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset and the gain or loss recognised at the date 
of the transaction. The new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in any gain or loss relating to the partial 
or full termination of a lease.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

5.  Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies and measurement basis adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
are summarised below: 

5.1  Basis of consolidation

The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared 
for reporting dates which are typically not more than three months from that of the parent company, using consistent accounting 
policies. Adjustments are made for the effect of any significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the 
reporting date of the parent company’s financial statements. 

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains and losses 
on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-Group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, 
the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of 
subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are recognised from the 
effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable. 

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and net assets that is not 
held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and 
the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.

When a controlling interest in the subsidiaries is disposed of, the difference between the selling price and the net asset value plus 
cumulative translation difference and goodwill is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The fair value of any 
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, or the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint 
venture.
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However, changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in 
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Parent 
Company.

5.2  Business combinations 

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred by the Group to 
obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures 
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of whether they 
have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. 
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the sum of a) fair 
value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and c) acquisition-
date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the 
fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss immediately.

5.3  Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and 
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or 
service to a customer.  

The Group follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. Identifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

The total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative stand-
alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring 
the promised goods or services to its customers.

5.3.1  Rendering of services
The Group earns fees and commission income from a diverse range of asset management, investment banking, custody and 
brokerage services provided to its customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two categories:

•  Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time
   Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period.  These fees include commission  
   income and asset management, custody and other management fees.
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•  Fee income from providing transaction services
Fees income arising for rendering specific advisory services, brokerage services, equity and debt placement transactions for 
a third party or arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party are recognised on 
completion of the underlying transaction.

5.3.2   Revenue from hotel operations
Revenue from hotel operations includes hotel services revenue, food and beverage and room revenue.

Room revenue is recognised on the rooms occupied on a daily basis and food and beverage and other related sales are accounted 
for at the time of sale and other related services are recognised on the performance of the service.

5.3.3   Revenue from IT services
Revenue from IT services represent IT related services and sale of IT related products. Revenue from these services is recognised 
as service is rendered. Customers are invoiced periodically in accordance with individual contracts as service provided. Any 
amounts remaining unbilled at the end of a reporting period are presented in the statement of financial position as accounts 
receivable as only the passage of time is required before payment of these amounts will be due.

5.3.4   Rental income 
The Group earns rental income from operating leases of its investment properties.

5.3.5   Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using effective interest method.

5.3.6  Dividend income
Dividend income, other than those from investments in associates, is recognised at the time the right to receive payment is 
established.

5.4  Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their 
origin. 

5.5  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during 
the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

5.6  Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually identified and 
separately recognised. See note 5.2 for information on how goodwill is initially determined. Goodwill is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Refer to note 5.12 for a description of impairment testing procedures.

5.7  Investment in associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither subsidiaries nor joint 
ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity method. Any 
goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in 
the amount recognised as investment in associates. 

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s 
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the accounting policies of the Group. 

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment.

The share of results of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This is the profit attributable 
to equity holders of the associate and therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared either to the reporting date of the Parent Company or to a date not earlier 
than three months of the Parent Company’s reporting date, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made for the effects 
of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss 
on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 
that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount under separate heading in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. 
Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained 
investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

However, when the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the 
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in 
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or 
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

5.8  Segment reporting 

The Group has four operating segments: Investments, Real Estate, IT services and Hotel Operations. In identifying these operating 
segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing its main products and services. Each of these 
operating segments is managed separately as each requires different approaches and other resources. 

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its consolidated financial statements. 
In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating segment are not 
allocated to a segment. 

5.9  Leases assets

The Group as a lessee 
For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A 
lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration’. 

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether: 

•  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being  
    identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group 

•  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period 
   of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract 

•  the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess whether it has 
   the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use. 

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of 
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee 
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of 
financial position as follows:

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct 
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease 
payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group 
also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 
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Lease liability

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), 
variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments 
arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability is reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to 
reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is 
remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is 
already reduced to zero.

The Group as a lessor 
The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment properties. The Group classifies 
its leases as either operating or finance leases. When the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head-lease and sub-lease as two separate contacts. The sub-lease 
is classified as finance lease or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use of asset arising from the head-lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over lease term. Initial direct cost incurred in arranging 
and negotiating a lease are added to the carrying amount of the lease assets and recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Amounts due under finance leases are recognised as receivables. Finance lease income is allocated to the accounting periods so 
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding for the finance lease.

5.10  Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The Group depreciates 
its equipment using the straight-line method at rates sufficient to write off the assets over their estimated useful economic lives. 
The residual value, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each financial year end.

5.11  Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted for using the fair value 
model. 

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently, investment properties are re-
measured at fair value on an individual basis based on valuations by independent real estate valuators and are included in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. Changes in fair value are taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investment properties are de-recognised when either they have been disposed or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal 
of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property 
to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated 
under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.

5.12  Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets
For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash 
inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related 
business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors goodwill. 

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as equivalent to its operating 
segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. 

All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
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indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine the value-in-use, 
management estimates expected future cash flows from the asset or each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest 
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly 
linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effect of future reorganisations and assets 
enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s 
assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk factors.
Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that cash-generating unit. 
Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, 
all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An 
impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

5.13  Financial instruments  

5.13.1  Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value 
through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 
are described below.

All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the entity commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when: 
•  rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired; 
•  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 
   flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; and either 

(a)  the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 
(b)  the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 
      of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, 
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 
Group has retained.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.13.2  Classification of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:

• financial assets at amortised cost
• financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

The classification is determined by both:
• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

The Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:
• the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive    
  income if certain criteria are met (note 5.13.3); and
• the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured 
  at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. No such designation has been made.
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5.13.3  Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
  the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following:

-  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, balances with banks and other financial institutions and short-term deposits 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

-  Accounts receivable and other assets
Accounts receivable and other assets are stated at original amount less allowance for any uncollectible amounts.  An estimate for 
doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred.

-  Due from related parties

Due from related parties are financial assets originated by the Group by providing money directly to the borrower that have fixed 
or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market.

Financial assets at FVTOCI
The Group accounts for financial assets at FVTOCI if the assets meet the following conditions:

• they are held under a business model whose objective it is “hold to collect” the associated cash flows and sell; and
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
  the principal amount outstanding. 

Any gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income will be recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss upon 
derecognition of the asset (except for equity investments at FVTOCI as detailed below).

Equity investments at FVTOCI
The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI comprise of investments in equity shares and funds. The investments in equity shares 
include both quoted and unquoted.

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments 
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is 
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together 
  and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is transferred to retained 
earnings within the consolidated statement of changes in equity on disposal of investments at FVTOCI investments.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Financial assets at FVTPL 
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVTOCI are categorised at fair value through 
profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments 
of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those 
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply (see below). The category 
also contains investments in equity shares.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation 
technique where no active market exists.

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL comprise of the investments in equity shares and funds.

5.13.4  Impairment of financial assets
All financial assets except for those at FVTPL and Equity investments at FVTOCI are subject to review for impairment at least 
at each reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a Group of financial assets is 
impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which are described below.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost or at FVTOCI.

For financial assets (except instalment credit debtors), the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects 
to receive. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective financial asset.

Instalment credit debtors are subject to the minimum provisioning requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait. Management believes 
that the impairment allowance for the instalment credit debtors under the CBK requirements exceed the requirements of IFRS 9.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the 
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based 
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, 
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable and other assets. The expected credit losses on these financial 
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events 
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for all financial assets with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous 
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which 
simplified approach was used.

5.13.5  Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, due to banks and accounts payable and other liabilities. 
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The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

•  Financial liabilities at amortised cost
These are stated at amortised cost using effective interest rate method. The Group categorises financial liabilities at amortised 
cost into the following categories:

•  Borrowings and due to banks
All borrowings and due to banks are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

•  Accounts payables and other financial liabilities
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the supplier or not, 
and classified as trade payables. Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL which are not categorised under any of the above are 
classified as “other liabilities”

All interest-related charges are included within finance costs.

5.13.6   Amortised cost of financial instruments
This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes into account any 
premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

5.13.7  Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position 
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

5.13.8  Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for 
transaction costs. 

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such 
techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair value of another instrument 
that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

5.14  Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of 
shares are deducted from share premium. 

Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies’ Law and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association. 

Foreign currency translation reserve – comprises of foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation of financial 
statements of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries and associates into Kuwaiti Dinar.

Cumulative changes in fair value reserve – comprises of gains and losses relating to investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income and Group’s share of cumulative change in fair value reserve of associates.

Retained earnings include all current and prior period profit and loss. All transactions with owners of the Parent Company are 
recorded separately within consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved by 
a General Assembly of the shareholders.

5.15  Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been re-acquired by the Group and not yet 
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reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the weighted average 
cost of the shares re-acquired is charged to a contra account in equity. 

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the “gain on sale of treasury shares 
reserve”), which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on 
that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary reserve and statutory reserve. No cash 
dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock dividend shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately 
and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

5.16  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount 
of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable 
evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there 
are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the 
class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed unless the possibility 
of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

5.17  Foreign currency translation

5.17.1 Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the functional currency of the Parent 
Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 
entity are measured using that functional currency.

5.17.2  Foreign currency transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates 
are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured 
at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair 
value which are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. 

Translation difference on non-monetary asset classified as, “fair value through profit or loss” is reported as part of the fair value 
gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and “fair value through other comprehensive income” is reported as part 
of the cumulative change in fair value reserve within consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

5.17.3 Foreign operations 

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional currency other than 
the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the entities in the Group has remained unchanged 
during the reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities are translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date. Goodwill and fair value 
adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 
into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. 
Exchange differences are charged/credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and 
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 

On disposal of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in consolidated statement of changes 
in equity are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

5.18  End of service benefits
The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees.  The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ final 
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salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period in accordance with relevant labour law and 
the employees’ contracts.  The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. This liability, which is 
unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a result of termination on the reporting date.

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group also makes contributions to the Public Institution for Social Security 
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are 
expensed when due.

5.19  Taxation

5.19.1   National Labour Support Tax (NLST)
NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of 
taxable profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company. As per law, income from associates and 
subsidiaries, cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected to NLST have to be deducted from the profit for the year.

5.19.2  Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)
The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 
in accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that income 
from associates and subsidiaries, Board of Directors’ remuneration, transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for 
the year when determining the contribution.

5.19.3  Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company in 
accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

5.19.4  Income taxes  
Income tax payable on profits is recognized as an expense in the period in which the profits arise based on the applicable tax laws 
and tax rates in each jurisdiction that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences, at the reporting date, between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax provisions depend on 
whether the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and whether it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, including carry-forward of unused tax losses, to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is not probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

5.20  Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value and the cost is determined according to the weighted average 
method. 

5.21   Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, they are not included in these 
consolidated financial statements.

5.22  Related party transactions

Related parties are associates, major shareholders, board of directors, executive staff, their family members and the companies 
owned by them. All related party transactions are carried out with the approval of the Group’s management.

6.  Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, 
at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 

80

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Annual Report 2022

require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

6.1  Significant management judgments 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant judgments, which have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

6.1.1  Business model assessment
The Group classifies financial assets after performing the business model test. This test includes judgement reflecting all relevant 
evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured and the risks that affect the 
performance of the assets. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which the 
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in 
business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets.

6.1.2  Significant increase in credit risk 
Estimated credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to -12month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or 

stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not 
define “significant” increase. Therefore, assessment whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes 
into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

6.1.3  Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
The determination of the whether or not performance obligation criterial set out in IFRS 15 relating to transfer of control of goods 
and services to customers has been satisfied requires significant judgement.

6.1.4  Significant influence
Significant influence exists when the size of an entity’s own voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of other vote holders, 
give the entity the practical ability unilaterally to direct the relevant activities of the company.

6.1.5  Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
The determination of the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as a result of business combination requires 
significant judgement.

6.1.6  Classification of real estate property
Management decides on acquisition of a real estate property whether it should be classified as trading, property held for 
development or investment property. 

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of business.

The Group classifies property as property under development if it is acquired with the intention of development.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital appreciation, or for 
undetermined future use.

6.1.7  Control assessment
When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of an 
investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities and ability to use its power to affect variable 
return requires considerable judgement.

6.2   Estimates uncertainty 

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different.

6.2.1  Impairment of goodwill  
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of 
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate 
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows.
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6.2.2  Impairment of associate

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss on the 
Group’s investment in its associates, at each reporting date based on existence of any objective evidence that the investment 
in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. 

6.2.3  Impairment of financial assets
Measurement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss given default is 
an estimate of the loss arising in case of default by customer. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default in 
the future. The Group based these estimates using reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based on 
assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. 
For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually 
significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length of time past due, 
based on historical recovery rates.

6.2.4  Revaluation of investment properties
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine fair values and the valuators have used 
valuation techniques to arrive at these fair values. These estimated fair values of investment properties may vary from the actual 
prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date. 

6.2.5  Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected utility of 
the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and 
equipment.

6.2.6  Business combinations
Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the various elements of a business combination. 
Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of many variables that affect future profitability.

6.2.7  Fair value of financial instruments
Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market quotes are 
not available) and non-financial assets. This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market 
inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data is not observable, 
management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary from the actual prices that would be 
achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date. 

6.2.8  Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  When inventories become old or obsolete, an estimate is made 
of their net realisable value.  For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on an individual basis.  Amounts 
which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to 
the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on historical selling prices.

6.2.9  Contract revenue
Recognised amounts of service and related receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each contract’s outcome and 
stage of completion. For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and contract profitability are subject to significant 
estimation uncertainty.
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7. Subsidiary companies

7.1  Details of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries as of the reporting date are as follows: 

7.1.1  Out of the Group’s total ownership interest in Noor GCC Islamic Fund, 79.9 % is pledged against the borrowings (Note 22).
 

7.1.2  During the year, the Group disposed part of its ownership in IT Partners for Information Technology - KSCC resulting into 
          a gain of KD33,113 which has been recognised directly in the equity.

8. Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue earned at point of time:

 Hotel operations
 IT services
Revenue earned over time:

 IT services

9. Cost of contracts with customers, general, administrative, and other expenses and finance costs

a) Cost of contracts with customers includes the followings: 

Staff costs
Others 

b) General, administrative and other expenses include the following:

Staff costs
Depreciation and amortization 
Other expenses

c) Finance costs include the following:

On financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

2,430,955

2,206,042

9,980,078

14,617,075

4,115,653

6,916,164

11,031,817

1,518,586

2,166,772

9,400,923

13,086,281

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

5,020,142

5,357,327

10,377,469

2,087,315

372,387

2,789,580

5,249,282

2,606,689

416,976

2,692,685

5,716,350

799,099

123,952

923,051

803,094

93,206

896,300
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31 Dec.
2022

31 Dec.
2021

Noor Kuwait Holding Company - KSCC
Kuwaiti Indian Holding Company – KSCC
Noor GCC Islamic Fund (7.1.1)
Al-Sohool Holding Company – KSCC 
Barwa National General Trading and Contracting 
Company – WLL 
Cablesat for Satellite Services Company - WLL 

Digital Alliances for Marketing and Advertisement 
Company - KSCC 
IT Partners for Information Technology KSCC (7.1.2)
Jabal Ali Real Estate Company – WLL
Noor Jordan Kuwait Financial Investment Company - PSCL
Arabian Group for Investment and Real Estate 
and Agriculture Development Company 

Investment and related activities 
Investment and related activities
Investment and related activities
Investment and related activities
General Trading 

Leasing of submarine internet 
transmission cables

Media and advertisement

Information Technology
Real Estate 
Investment and related activities

Real Estate Development

Kuwait
Kuwait
Kuwait
Kuwait
Kuwait
Kuwait

Kuwait

Kuwait
Kuwait
Jordan

Egypt

99.95 % 

56.59 %

95.56 %

99.69 %

99 %

99 %

 98 %

88.04 %

99 %

100 %

98%

99.95 %

56.59 %

94.92 %

99.69 %

99 %

99 %

98 %

92.44 %

99 %

100 %

98%
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10.  Interest and other income 

Interest income 
Reversal of impairment provision on wakala investments
Management fees
Other income

11.  Net (loss)/gain on financial assets

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets, analyzed by category, is as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Interest on cash and cash equivalents 

Impairment of receivables

Reversal of impairment provision on wakala investments

(Loss)/gain on financial assets at amortised costs

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Gain on sale

Change in fair value

Dividend income 

Gain from investments at fair value through profit or loss

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Dividend income 

Gain recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss

Change in fair value

(Loss)/gain recognised directly in equity

Total (loss)/gain from investments at FVTOCI

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

110,164

-

60,897

20,637

191,698

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

110,164

(1,091,271)

-

    (981,107)

63,554

(192,792)

220,620

91,382

462,823

462,823

(1,545,567)

(1,545,567)

(1,082,744)

(1,972,469)

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

72,439

683,250

30,633

146,824

933,146

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

72,439

-

683,250

     755,689

349,802

1,681,076

199,374

2,230,252

254,390

254,390

6,221,388

6,221,388

6,475,778

9,461,719
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12. Basic and diluted earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent 
Company by weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year excluding treasury shares.

Cash in portfolio by an amount of KD 64,021 (         : term deposits of KD1,400,000) is pledged against borrowings (Note 22).
The short-term deposits carry effective interest rate ranging                              (                                     ) per annum.

Due to banks represents bank overdraft facilities utilised by a subsidiary which was secured by pledge of short-term deposits KD 
653,850 (                         ). Due to banks carry effective interest rate of          ( 2021:4.13    ) per annum.

Quoted shares with carrying value of KD1,275,643  (        : KD1,174,455) are pledged against borrowings (note 22).

The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of investments at fair value through profit or loss is presented in Note 
31.3. 

14. Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Local quoted shares  

Foreign quoted shares  

Unquoted foreign funds 

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

19,823,155

509,222,655

38.93

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

2,732,918

908,359

10,548,990

14,190,267

-

(5,990)

-

14,184,277

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

3,777,958

4,040,711

-

7,818,669

Year ended

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

17,336,116

500,208,155

34.66

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

5,663,327

1,188,606

8,042,355

14,894,288

(556,958)
(5,990)

(642,355)
13,688,985

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

3,786,824

4,339,533

153,304

8,279,661

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 
(excluding treasury shares)

Basic and diluted earnings per share (Fils)

13.  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances
Cash in portfolios
Short term deposits
Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated financial position
Less:
Due to banks
Restricted bank balances
Short term deposits maturing after three months
Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated statements of cash flows

The basic and diluted earnings per share reported during the previous year were 43.52 Fils before retroactive adjustments relating 
to bonus shares issue (Note 28).
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15. Accounts receivable and other assets

Financial assets:

Accounts receivable - net
Loans to customers - net
Accrued income - net
Dividend receivable from associates - net
Due from related parties
Other assets

Non-financial assets:
Other assets

The carrying values of the financial assets included above approximate their fair values and all are due within one year.

The expected credit loss for accounts receivables as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 was determined as follows:

31 December 2022:

Accounts receivable:
Expected credit loss rate (approximate %)
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime expected credit losses

31 December 2021:

Accounts receivable:
Expected credit loss rate (approximate %)
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime expected credit losses

The movement in the provision for accounts receivable and other assets is as follows:

Balance at 1 January 

Charge for the year
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance at 31 December

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

3,258,840 

20,164

336,835

2,970,007

16,616

501,096 

7,103,558

367,867

7,471,425

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

11,436,200

1,091,271

(12,918)

12,514,553

Current

KD

2.9 %

2,672,006

77,737 

3.2 %

1,395,750

45,240

Less than 

60 days

KD

10.4 %

439,417

45,780 

6.7 %

873,775

58,875

60-120 

days

KD

 16.6 %

262,898

43,578 

16.8 %

1,047,607

175,863

121-365 

days

KD

79.2 %

162,883

129,063 

42.9 %

351,871

151,162

More than 

365 days

KD

98.3 %

1,021,621

1,003,827 

100 %

881,763

881,763

Total

KD

4,558,825

1,299,985

4,550,766

1,312,903

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

3,237,863

-
313,412

-
9,142

649,875

4,210,292

272,752

4,483,044

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

11,434,174

-
2,026

11,436,200
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16. Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

Local quoted shares  
Foreign quoted shares  
Local unquoted shares 
Foreign unquoted shares
Foreign funds

The investments in equity instruments are held for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the Group has elected to 
designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as it believes that recognising short-term fluctuations in the fair 
value of these investments in consolidated statement of profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding 
these investments for long-term purposes and realising their performance potential in the long run.

Quoted and unquoted shares with an aggregate carrying value of KD 6,509,103 (          KD 8,152,473) are pledged against 
borrowings (Note 22).

The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments is presented in note 31.3.

17.  Investment in associate

This represents the Group’s ownership of 35.25% (         :35.25 %) in Meezan Bank Limited, an Islamic bank operating in Pakistan 
which is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange.

17.1  Movement of investment in associate during the year are as follows:

 

Balance at 1 January

Share of results
Share of other comprehensive loss
Dividend
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance at the end of the year

17.2 The summarised financial information of Meezan Bank Limited set out below represents the amounts presented in
           the financial statements of the associate (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting 
         policies between the Group and the associate, if any.

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

6,014,777

23,500

1,661,670

444,578

426,178

8,570,703

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

56,996,965

22,853,575

(2,762,643)

(5,396,277)

(12,572,562)

59,119,058

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

7,880,378

1,532

1,487,287

5,711,783

520,554

15,601,534

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

52,118,051

17,796,313

(1,283,675)
(5,538,282)
(6,095,442)
56,996,965
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Total assets

Total liabilities and non-controlling interests
Equity attributable to shareholders of Meezan Bank

Revenue 

Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of Meezan Bank
Other comprehensive loss for the year 
Total comprehensive income for the year

Group’s ownership interest 
Group share of net assets 
Goodwill
Carrying value of Group’s ownership interest
Group share of dividends (net of taxes)
Fair value based on quoted price

17.3      Group’s share of associate’s contingent liabilities:

 

Guarantees
Letters of credit
Commitments in respect of forward exchange contracts
Commitments for the acquisition of operating fixed assets and intangible assets
Commitments in respect of financing
Other contingent liabilities (see below)

The local income tax authority in Pakistan raised a demand requesting Meezan Bank Limited to pay additional tax equivalents to 
KD2.4 million (31 December 2021: KD3.05 million) of which Group’s share is KD0.86 million (31 December 2021: KD1.07 million), 
for prior years. The associate has obtained a stay order against this demand and has filed appeals with the relevant appellate 
authorities. The Group’s management, in consultation with the associate’s management, is confident that the decision in respect 
of this matter would be in the associate’s favour and, accordingly, no provision has been made either in the associate’s financial 
statements or in these consolidated financial statements in this respect.

18. Investment properties

The movement in investment properties is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Disposals
Changes in fair value 
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance at the end of the year

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

3,487,631,301

(3,328,331,041)

159,300,260

313,717,157

60,700,488

(6,532,105)

54,168,383

35.25 %

56,151,306

2,967,752

59,119,058

5,396,277

84,819,152

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

26,895,087

105,555,178

116,112,612

443,827

367,766,820

858,006

617,631,530

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

12,541,667

-

(126,720)

(79,298)

12,335,649

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

3,231,574,426

(3,080,393,238)
151,181,188

186,471,210

47,817,487

(2,653,546)
45,163,941

35.25 %

53,289,652

3,707,313

56,996,965

5,538,282

130,282,811

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

26,913,550

104,630,753

119,790,061

417,411

305,019,914

1,075,998 

557,847,687

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

13,056,083

(638,000)
135,382

(11,798)
12,541,667
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Investment properties are located as follows:

Kuwait
UAE and Jordan
United Kingdom

Investment properties with carrying value of KD 8,982,000 (         : KD8,720,000) are pledged against borrowings (Note 22).

The measurement basis of fair value of the investment properties is disclosed in note 31.4.

19. Goodwill 

The goodwill resulted from acquisition of a fellow subsidiary “Arab Information Management Services Company – KSC (Closed)”. 
Goodwill has been allocated to the entire subsidiary for impairment testing.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable 
amount of the CGUs to which these items are allocated. The recoverable amount is determined based on higher of value-in-use 
calculations or fair value less cost to sell.

Management used the following approach to determine values to be assigned to the following key assumptions in the value in 
use calculations

Key assumption                 Basis used to determine value to be assigned to key assumption

 

Growth rate                        Anticipated average growth rate of 3% (                         ) per annum. Value assigned reflects 
                                           past experience and changes in economic environment. 

                                                 Cash flows beyond the five-year period have been extrapolated using a growth rate of 3% (            3% ).  
                                            This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the market in which the CGU operates.
 

Discount rate                      Discount rate of 17% (                     ). Discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
                                           to the relevant CGU.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis by varying these input factors by a reasonably possible margin and assessing 
whether the change in input factors result in any of the goodwill allocated to appropriate cash generating units being impaired. 
Based on the above analysis, there are no indications that goodwill included in any of the cash generating units is impaired.

20. Accounts payable and other liabilities

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable
Accrued interests
Taxes payable
Accrued expenses
Dividend payable
Due to related parties
Payable on account of capital reduction in subsidiary 
Other payables

All above financial liabilities are non-interest bearing. The carrying values of the above liabilities approximate their fair values.
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 31 Dec. 2022

KD

10,368,000

1,193,843

773,806

12,335,649

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

920,430

2,260

1,640,863

3,424,176

275,147

547,500

628,233

1,654,087

9,092,696

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

10,106,000

1,538,007

897,660

12,541,667

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

1,182,285

1,766

1,351,715

3,071,256

209,940

494,850

820,346

1,473,926

8,606,084
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21. Lease liabilities

The Group has leases for properties under the operating leases. Following is the movement for the lease liabilities during the year:

 

At 1 January 

Finance costs charged for the year 
Settled during the year
Foreign currency translation adjustments
At 31 December 

Future minimum lease payments due are as follows:

31 December 2022:

Lease payments
Finance charges
Net present values

31 December 2021:

Lease payments
Finance charges
Net present values

22. Borrowings 

Term loan

22.1  During the year, the Parent Company signed a new agreement with a local bank to reschedule the outstanding loan 
with new terms. The term loan carries effective interest rate of 5.5 % per annum (31 December 2021:          per annum) and 
is repayable in various unequal instalments ending on 30 June 2027. The loan is secured by pledge of cash in portfolio, 
certain investments at fair value through profit or loss and investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
investment properties and Group’s ownership of a subsidiary (Notes 7,13,14,16 and 18).

 

22.2  The borrowings are due for repayment as follows:

Within one year
Over one year

Minimum lease payments due Total

within 1 year

KD

309,328

(77,321)

232,007

Over 1 year

KD

1,156,620

(356,474)

800,146

KD

1,465,948

(433,795)

1,032,153

486,088

(90,188)
395,900

1,392,798

(428,564)
964,234

1,878,886

(518,752)
1,360,134

31 Dec. 2022

KD

1,360,134

123,952

(468,533)

16,600

1,032,153

31 Dec. 2021

KD

1,623,412

93,206

(352,469)
(4,015)

1,360,134

31 Dec. 2022

KD

15,000,000

31 Dec. 2021

KD

18,421,875

31 Dec. 2022

KD

250,000

14,750,000

15,000,000

31 Dec. 2021

KD

-
18,421,875

18,421,875
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23.  Share capital and share premium

 

During the year, the share capital was increased by 103,290,690 shares through issue of new shares which represents the bonus 
shares to the shareholders approved by the Annual General Assembly of the shareholders (Note 28). The increase of the share 
capital was approved by the relevant authorities and registered in the commercial register on 25 April 2022.

As of 31 December 2022, the authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital of the Parent Company is KD51,645,345 

comprising of 516,453,451 shares of 100 Fils each (31 December 2021: KD41,316,276 comprising of 413,162,761 shares of 100 

Fils each) of which KD50,311,795 paid in cash and KD1,333,550 paid in kind (31 December 2021: KD39,982,726 paid in cash 
and KD1,333,550 paid in kind).

Share premium is not available for distribution.

24. Treasury shares

Number of shares
Percentage of issued shares
Market value (KD)
Cost (KD)

Reserves of the Parent Company equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares have been earmarked as non-distributable.

25. Other components of equity

Balances at 1 January 2022

Net change in fair value of investments at FVTOCI
Transferred to retained earnings on sale of investments at FVTOCI 
Share of other comprehensive loss of associate
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations
Balances at 31 December 2022 

Balances at 1 January 2021

Charge on merger with subsidiary
Net change in fair value of investments at FVTOCI
Transferred to retained earnings on sale of investments at FVTOCI
Share of other comprehensive loss of associate
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations
Balances at 31 December 2021 

26. Statutory and voluntary reserves

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association,     
10% of the Parent Company’s profit for the year before KFAS, Zakat, NLST and directors’ remuneration is to be transferred to 
statutory reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfer when the reserve totals 50% of the paid-
up share capital. No transfer is required in a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or where accumulated losses 
exist.

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend up to 5 % of paid-up 
share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the distribution of a dividend of that amount.

(30,422,508)

-

-

-

(12,685,433)

(43,107,941)

(24,304,564)
-
-
-
-

 (6,117,944)
 (30,422,508)

(2,965,617)

(1,545,567)

1,357,476

(2,762,643)

-

(5,916,351)

(4,592,987)
(787,639)
4,865,006

 (1,166,322)
(1,283,675)

-
(2,965,617)

Total

KD

(33,388,125)

(1,545,567)

1,357,476

(2,762,643)

(12,685,433)

(49,024,292)

(28,897,551)
(787,639)
4,865,006

 (1,166,322)
(1,283,675)
(6,117,944)

  (33,388,125)

31 Dec. 2022

KD

7,230,796

      1.40 %

1,236,466

1,197,666   

31 Dec. 2021

KD

5,781,667

1.40 %

1,821,225

1,197,666
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Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, a certain percentage of the 
Parent Company’s profit for the year before KFAS, Zakat, NLST and directors’ remuneration, is to be transferred to the voluntary 
reserve at the discretion of the Board of Directors which is to be approved at the General Assembly. No transfer is required in a 
year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or where accumulated losses exist. There are no restrictions on distribution 
of voluntary reserve.

The movement in the statutory and voluntary reserves is as follows:

Balances at 1 January 2022

Transfer from retained earnings during the year

Balances at 31 December 2022 

Balances at 1 January 2021

Transfer from retained earnings during the year

Balances at 31 December 2021

27. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities can be reconciled as follows:

Balance at 1 January 2022

Cash flows:
•  Repayment
Non-cash transactions:
•  Finance cost charged during the year
•  Foreign currency conversion adjustments
31 December 2022

Balance at 1 January 2021

Cash flows:
•  Repayment
•  Proceeds
Non-cash transactions:
•  Finance cost charged during the year
•  Foreign currency conversion adjustments
31 December 2021

 

8,452,434

2,046,397

10,498,831

6,681,356

1,771,078

8,452,434

18,421,875

(3,421,875)

-

-

15,000,000

22,699,375

(4,277,500)
-

-
-

18,421,875

1,360,134

(468,533)

123,952

16,600

1,032,153

1,623,412

(352,469)
-

93,206

(4,015)
1,360,134

      556,958

(556,958)

-

-

-

      333,516

-
223,442

-
-

556,958

20,338,967

(4,447,366)

123,952

16,600

16,032,153

24,656,303

(4,629,969)
223,442

93,206

(4,015)
20,338,967

Statutory reserve

KD

Borrowings

KD

Lease liabilities

KD

Due to banks

KD

Total

KD

8,452,434

2,046,397

10,498,831

6,681,356

1,771,078

8,452,434

Voluntary reserve

KD
Total

KD

16,904,868

4,092,794

20,997,662

13,362,712

3,542,156

16,904,868
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28. Annual general assembly and dividend distribution 

Subsequent to the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the board of directors proposed distribution to 
shareholders of a cash dividend of 5 Fils per share for the year ended 31 December 2022. Furthermore, the Board of Directors’ 
have proposed directors’ remuneration amount of KD177,500 for the year then ended. These proposals are subject to the approval 
of the general assembly and the regulatory authorities.

The Annual General Assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company held on 6 April 2022 approved the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the board of directors’ proposals to distribute a cash dividend 
to shareholders equivalent to 6 fils per share amounting to KD 2,444,286 (    December 2020:   fils per share amounting to 
KD2,369,795) and bonus shares of 25% (    December 2020: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2021 and an amount of 
KD162,000 (    December 2020: KD165,000) as directors’ remuneration for the year then ended.

93
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Geographical Segments 

¸e geographical segments are as follows:

30. Related party transactions

Related parties represent the Ultimate Parent Company, associates, directors and key management personnel of the Group, 
and other related parties such as subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent Company (fellow subsidiaries), major shareholders and 
companies in which directors and key management personnel of the Group are principal owners or over which they are able to 
exercise significant influence or joint control. Key management personnel include board of directors, chief executive officers and 
principal officers of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the 
Group’s management. 

Significant related party transactions and balances included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Balances included in consolidated statement of financial position 
Due from related parties (note 15)
Dividend receivable from associate (note 15)
Due to Ultimate Parent Company 
Due to related parties (note 20)
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Investments at FVTOCI

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Other income

Finance costs 

Impairment of receivables

Key management compensation:

Salaries and other short-term benefits
Committee fees and other remunerations 
End of service benefits
Board of directors’ remuneration 

31 Dec. 2022

KD

16,616

2,970,007

9,857

547,500

66,303

6,508,314

Year ended.

 31 Dec. 2022

KD

20,825

-

1,091,271

618,777

370,000 

25,985

177,500

1,192,262

31 Dec. 2021

KD

9,142

-
9,025

494,850

55,183

8,192,142

Year ended.

 31 Dec. 2021

KD

3,766

55,568

-

502,691

332,850

20,191

162,000

1,017,732

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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31. Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value measurement

31.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 
may also be categorized as follows:

Financial assets

At amortised cost: 

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable and other assets (note 15)

At fair value: 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost: 

Due to banks
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings 
Total financial liabilities

31.2  Fair value measurement 

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The Group measures financial instruments such as investments at fair value though 
profit or loss and investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and measurement details are disclosed in note 
31.3 to the consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the Group’s management, the carrying amounts of all other financial 
assets and liabilities which are carried at amortised costs are considered a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

The Group also measures non-financial assets such as investment properties at fair value at each annual reporting date 
(refer 31.4). 

31.3  Fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are grouped into three levels of a 
fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2:   Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
               (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (i.e., unobservable inputs).

The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant input to the fair value 
measurement.

31 Dec. 2022

KD

14,190,267

7,103,558

7,818,669

8,570,703

37,683,197

-

9,092,696

1,032,153

15,000,000

25,124,849

31 Dec. 2021

KD

14,894,288

4,210,292

8,279,661

15,601,534

42,985,775

556,958

8,606,084

1,360,134

18,421,875

28,945,051
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The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the statement of consolidated financial position 
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair values, are unchanged compared to the previous 
year. 

Measurement at fair value

The Group’s valuation team performs valuations of financial instruments for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair 
values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where required. Valuation techniques are 
selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising the use of market-based 
information.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are as follows:

a) Quoted shares

Quoted shares represent all listed equity securities which are publicly traded in stock exchanges. Where quoted prices in an 
active market are available, the fair value of such investments have been determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the 
reporting date (Level 1) and if the market for an investment is not active, the Group has established fair value by using valuation 
techniques.

b) Foreign funds 

The underlying investments of foreign funds primarily comprise of foreign quoted and unquoted securities. Information for these 
investments is limited to periodic financial reports provided by the investment managers. These investments are carried at net 
asset values reported by the investment managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the net asset values reported by the 
investment managers represent the best estimate of fair values available for these investments.

97
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Description and 

Valuation technique

Income Approach

Buildings in Kuwait, UAE and UK

Market Approach 

  Land in Jordan

Significant unobservable inputs

Average monthly rent (per sqm)
Average yield rate

Estimated market price for land (per sqm)

c) Unquoted shares

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted securities which are measured at fair value. Fair value is 
estimated using a discounted cash flow model or observable market prices or other valuation technique which includes some 
assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices or rates.
 

Level 3 Fair value measurements  

The Group’s financial assets classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques based on significant inputs that are not based on 
observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from beginning to ending balances as follows:

 

As at 1 January 

Disposal 
Changes in fair value 
As at 31 December

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values measurement to changes in the most significant unobservable inputs are as 
follows:  

The fair values are estimated using net assets values of the underlined investments and applying a discount of 10% - 35%

(                             ) for lack of marketability. Discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has 
determined that market participants would consider these discounts when pricing the investments.

The impact on other comprehensive income would be immaterial if the relevant risk variable used to fair value the level 3 

investments were changed by 5%.

31.4 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets
The Group’s non-financial assets measured at fair value consist of investment properties. All investment properties are categorised 
as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy on a recurring basis at 31 December 2022 and 2021.The following table shows the 
information regarding the level 3 fair value measurements of investment properties:

The fair values of all investment properties have been determined based on valuations obtained from independent and 
professionally qualified property valuers (two appraisals for local properties, of which one from a local bank, and one appraisal for 
foreign properties). The significant inputs and assumptions are developed in close consultation with management.

Buildings

The fair values of the buildings that have been determined based on the fair value provided by independent and accredited valuers 
who have valued the buildings using income approach which capitalises the monthly estimated rental income stream, net of 
projected operating costs using a discount rate derived from the market yields. When actual rent differs materially from estimated 
rents, adjustments have been made to the estimated rental value. When using the estimated rental stream approach, adjustments 
to actual rental are incorporated for factors such as current occupancy levels, the terms of in-place leases, expectations for rentals 
from future leases and unlicensed rented areas.

31 Dec. 2022

KD

1,490,263

(19,197)

193,617

1,664,683

31 Dec. 2021

KD

1,446,545

(1,000)
44,718

1,490,263

Range of unobservable inputs 

2022

KD0.98 – KD14.88

7.7 %

KD41.63

KD1.24 – KD16.44
7.5 %

KD55.1

2021

2021 : 10% - 35%
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Land

The fair values of the plots of land that have been determined based on fair values provided by an independent and accredited 
valuers who has valued the land using a market approach that reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for similar 
properties and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the land in question, including plot size, location, encumbrances 
and current use. 

Level 3 Fair value measurements

The Group measurement of investment properties classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are not based on 
observable market data.  The movement in the investment properties is disclosed in Note 18.

32.  Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise of borrowings, due to banks, lease liabilities and accounts payable and other 
liabilities. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. 

The Group has various financial assets such as accounts receivable and other assets, cash and bank balances, short term 
deposits and investment securities which arise directly from operations.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Parent Company’s Board of Directors sets out policies for managing each of these risks as discussed below.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments.

32.1 Market risk

The significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below:

a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in the Middle East and few Asians countries and is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from 
various foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to US Dollar, Pakistan Rupees and UAE Dirham. The Parent Company’s 
consolidated statement of financial position can be affected by the movement in these currencies. To mitigate the Group’s exposure 
to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored. 

Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within twelve months) 
from longer-term cash flows. Foreign currency risk is managed on the basis of limits determined by the Parent Company’s board 
of directors and a continuous assessment of the Groups’ open positions.

The Group’s significant net exposure to foreign currency denominated monetary assets less monetary liabilities at the reporting 
date, translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at the closing rates are as follows:

US Dollar
Pakistan Rupees

UAE Dirham

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the transactions. Nonetheless, 
a reasonable possible change in exchanges rates of the foreign currencies noted above would not have a significant impact on 
the Group’s consolidated profit or loss.

b)  Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial 
instruments.The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to due to banks and borrowings which are at floating interest rates. 
The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate short term deposits and borrowings. 

31 Dec. 2022

Equivalent

KD

7,849,621

2,970,659

154,505

31 Dec. 2021

Equivalent

KD

1,342,823

1,913

45,087
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Positions are monitored regularly to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. 

The Group’s interest rate risk sensitivity position, based on the contractual re-pricing or maturity dates of assets and liabilities, 
whichever dates are earlier, is as follows:
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The Group does not have any off-balance sheet financial instrument which are used to manage the interest rate risk. The following 
table illustrates the sensitivity of the interest-bearing financial instruments on the profit for the year to a reasonable possible 
change in interest rates with effect from the beginning of the year. 

Based on observation of current market conditions it has been assumed that a reasonable possible change in the interest rates 
would be + 50 and - 50 basis points for interest rates for the current year (2021: Interest rate + 50 and - 50 for basis point). The 
calculation is based on the Group’s financial instruments held at reporting date. All other variables are held constant. There is no 
other direct impact on Group’s equity.

Profit for the year

c) Price risk

This is a risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether these changes 
are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments, traded in the market. The 
Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its equity investments. 

Equity investments are classified either as investments carried at fair value through profit or loss or investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the 
portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group. 

The price risk sensitivity is determined at the rate of 10% on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date. If equity prices 
had been higher by 10%, the effect on the profit for the year and equity for the year ended 31 December would have been as 
follows, with all other variables held constant:

A positive number below indicates an increase in profit for the year/equity, where the equity prices increase by the above-
mentioned percentages.  

Investments at FVTPL
Investments at FVTOCI

If there was a negative change in equity prices in accordance with the above-mentioned equity price risk sensitivity assumptions 
(10%), there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other comprehensive income for the year, and the balances 
shown above would be negative.

Increase in interest rates Decrease in interest rates

Year ended Year endedYear ended Year ended

31 Dec. 2022

KD

(74,397)

31 Dec. 2022

KD

74,397

31 Dec. 2021

KD

(92,358)

31 Dec. 2021

KD

92,358

Profit for the year Equity

31 Dec. 2022

KD

781,867

-

781,867

31 Dec. 2022

KD

-

857,070

857,070

31 Dec. 2021

KD

827,966

-
827,966

31 Dec. 2021

KD

-
1,560,153

1,560,153
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32.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur 
a financial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks to avoid 
undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or business through diversification of 
its activities. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as 
summarized below:

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable and other assets (note 15)
Investments at FVTPL
Investments at FVTOCI

Except accounts receivable and other assets (Note 15), none of the above financial assets are past due or impaired. The Group 
continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparty, identified either individually or by group, and incorporates 
this information into its credit risk controls. Where available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or reports on customers 
and other counterparties are obtained and used. The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties. The Group’s 
management considers that all the above financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired, review are of good credit quality. 

None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

In respect of receivables, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty. The credit risk 
for bank balances and amounts due from related parties is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable financial 
institutions/entities with high credit quality. Information on other significant concentrations of credit risk is set out in note 32.3.

32.3  Concentration of financial assets and liabilities 
The distribution of financial assets and liabilities by geographic region is as follows:

At 31 December 2022

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments at FVTPL
Accounts receivable and other assets
Investments at FVTOCI

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings 

31 Dec. 2022

KD

14,186,281

7,471,425

1,277,227

6,786,277

29,721,210

13,514,610

3,777,958

4,006,648

7,676,448

28,975,664

8,199,903

-

15,000,000

23,199,903

14,920

78,955

2,977,126

780,003

3,851,004

559

-

-

559

649,386

3,940,297

485,705

12,762

5,088,150

884,785

1,032,153

-

1,916,938

11,351

21,459

1,946

101,490

136,246

7,449

-

-

7,449

14,190,267

7,818,669

7,471,425

8,570,703

38,051,064

9,092,696

1,032,153

15,000,000

25,124,849

31 Dec. 2021

KD

14,892,452

4,483,044

1,327,758

8,673,027

29,376,281

Kuwait

KD

Middle East

KD

Asia & Africa

KD

Europe & USA

KD

Total

KD
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At 31 December 2021

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments at FVTPL
Accounts receivable and other assets
Investments at FVTOCI

Due to banks
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings 

32.4  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due.  To limit this risk, management has 
arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors liquidity on a daily basis. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. Except for investments carried at fair value 
through profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income investments, the maturities of assets and liabilities 
have been determined on the basis of the remaining period from the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity 
profile for investments carried at fair value through profit or loss, fair value through other comprehensive income and investment 
properties is determined based on management’s estimate of liquidation of those investments.

Maturity profile of assets and liabilities are as follows:

At 31 December 2022

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investment at FVTPL
Accounts receivable and other assets
Inventories       
Investments at FVTOCI 
Investment in associate
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Right of use of assets
Goodwill 

13,372,362

3,786,824

3,621,588

9,367,666

30,148,440

556,958

7,905,341

-
18,421,875

26,884,174

2,154

251,275

459,540

1,094,706

1,807,675

-
-
-
-
-

1,505,066

4,241,562

397,525

4,944,049

11,088,202

-
691,817

1,360,134

-
2,051,951

14,706

-
4,391

195,113

214,210

-
8,926

-
-

8,926

14,894,288

8,279,661

4,483,044

15,601,534

43,258,527

556,958

8,606,084

1,360,134

18,421,875

28,945,051

Kuwait

KD

Middle East

KD

Asia & Africa

KD

Europe & USA

KD

Total

KD

Within 1 year

KD

14,190,267

7,818,669

7,471,425

595,544

-

-

-

-

-

-

30,075,905

Over 1 year

KD

-

-

-

-

8,570,703

59,119,058

12,335,649

1,386,422

913,360

2,029,278

84,354,470

Total

KD

14,190,267

7,818,669

7,471,425

595,544

8,570,703

59,119,058

12,335,649

1,386,422

913,360

2,029,278

114,430,375
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At 31 December 2022

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

At 31 December 2021

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investment at FVTPL
Accounts receivable and other assets
Inventories       
Investments at FVTOCI 
Investment in associate
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Right of use of assets
Goodwill 

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Due to banks
Borrowings 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

The contractual maturity of financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows is as follows:

31 December 2022

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings

31 December 2021

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings and due to banks

9,092,696

232,007

250,000

-

9,574,703

14,894,288

8,279,661

4,483,044

610,148

-
-
-
-
-
-

28,267,141

8,606,084

395,900

556,958

-
-

9,558,942

Up to 1

month

KD

-

-

-

-

-
-
-
-

1-3

months

KD

-

56,151 

203,425 

259,576

-
242,159

187,371

429,530

3-12

months

KD

9,092,696

253,177 

871,575 

10,217,448

8,606,084

243,932

1,119,266

9,969,282

1-5

Years

KD

-

1,156,620 

18,050,000 

19,206,620

-
1,392,795

19,158,750

20,551,545

Total

KD

9,092,696

1,465,948

19,125,000 

29,683,644

8,606,084

1,878,886

20,465,387

30,950,357

-

800,146

14,750,000

1,371,392

16,921,538

-
-
-
-

15,601,534

56,996,965

12,541,667

1,472,172

1,078,278

2,029,278

89,719,894

-
964,234

-
18,421,875

1,436,868

20,822,977

9,092,696

1,032,153

15,000,000

1,371,392

26,496,241

14,894,288

8,279,661

4,483,044

610,148

15,601,534

56,996,965

12,541,667

1,472,172

1,078,278

2,029,278

117,987,035

8,606,084

1,360,134

556,958

18,421,875

1,436,868

30,381,919

Within 1 year

KD

Over 1 year

KD

Total

KD
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

33. Capital risk management.

The Group’s capital risk management objectives are to ensure that the Group maintains a strong credit rating and healthy ratios 
in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the number of 
dividends paid to shareholders, buy back shares, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

 

Borrowings (note 22) 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 13)
Net debt

Total equity

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity as follows:

Net debt
Total equity
Net debt to total equity ratio

34.  Fiduciary assets

The Group manages mutual funds and portfolios on behalf of its Ultimate Parent Company, other related parties, and outsiders, 
and maintains securities in fiduciary accounts which are not reflected in the Group›s consolidated statement of financial position. 
Assets under management at 31 December 2022 amounted to KD 28,312,321 (    December 2021:  KD27,285,502) of which 
assets managed on behalf of its Ultimate Parent Company and other related parties amounted to KD 20,199,489 (    December 
2021: KD20,190,819).

35.  Contingent liabilities

On 1 December 2011, the Parent Company’s Jordanian subsidiary, Noor Jordanian Kuwaiti Financial Investment Company Limited 
(“the Seller”) disposed of its entire equity interest in one of its Jordanian subsidiaries (Noor Jordan Kuwait Transport Company 
JSCC) to nine individual buyers (“the Buyers”). Subsequent to the transfer of shares and control to the Buyers, they filed a case 
against the Seller claiming misrepresentation in valuing subsidiary’s net assets. The subsidiary’s management and legal advisor 
believe that the favourable decision of the court is probable. Therefore, no provision for any effects that may result has been made 
in these consolidated financial statements. 

At the reporting date the Group had contingent liabilities with respect to outstanding bank guarantees amounting to KD4,288,151 

(        : KD3,898,488).

31 Dec. 2022

KD

15,000,000

(14,184,277)

815,723

87,934,134

31 Dec. 2022

KD

815,723

87,934,134

1%

31 Dec. 2021

KD

18,421,875

(13,688,985)
4,732,890

87,605,116

31 Dec. 2021

KD

4,732,890

87,605,116

5%

31

31

2021
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36.  Wakala Investments

Wakala investments of KD14,324,160 placed with a local Islamic investment company which matured in the last quarter of 2008. 
The investee company defaulted on settlement of these balances on the original maturity date. However, revised maturity dates 
were stipulated by the court. The investee company again defaulted the payment of 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th instalments due in 
September 2014 ,2015 ,2016 and 2017, respectively. The Group made full provision in prior years for the receivable in accordance 
with the Central Bank of Kuwait provision rules. The Group initiated various legal cases against the investee company which were 
eventually decided in favor of the Group.  During 2019, the Parent Company signed a settlement agreement with the investee 
company under which 50% shares of Excellent Choice General Trading and Contracting Co. - WLL (acquired company) were 
transferred to the Parent Company.

In years prior to the above settlement agreement, the acquired company had filed lawsuits against a local bank (“Bank”) claiming 
return of the ownership of 33,544,500 shares of Boubyan Bank, which were transferred by the Bank through a sale contract, plus 
any cash or in-kind dividends and other benefits related to those shares. 

On 6 April 2016, the court of first instance rendered a judgment in favor of the Bank, upholding its ownership of the said Boubyan 
Bank shares. Subsequently, on 22 February 2017, the court of appeal adjudicated that the above sale contract is null and void 
and subject shares should be returned to the acquired company, along with all the cash or in-kind dividends and other benefits 
that the Bank had obtained on those shares.The Bank appealed the judgment before the Court of Cassation, which adjudicated, 
on 27 December 2017, that the acquired company is obliged to refund the price of the shares paid by the Bank and ordered the 
Bank to return ownership of the shares along with related benefits to the acquired company.

The acquired company initiated various legal procedures and cases for the execution of the above-mentioned court orders. 

On 31 January 2022, the court of first instance rendered a judgment obligating the Bank to return to the acquired company the 
50,504,513 shares of Boubyan Bank and cash dividends of KD386,294 whereas the acquired company was ordered to pay to the 
Bank an amount of KD14,301,772 as a consideration of the shares, commissions and ownership transfer fees plus an amount of 
KD6,416,324 as a compensation to the Bank for losses and damages. 

On 3 July 2022, the court of appeal substantially upheld the above judgment but revoked the KD6,416,324 compensation to the 

Bank. Hence, the total amount to be paid to the Bank is KD14,301,772 plus court expenses and as per the recent certificate of 
execution department, total amount to be paid to the Bank is KD14,563,536. As of the date of issuance of these consolidated 
financial statements, the lawsuit is still deliberated before the court of cassation.

Subsequent to the date of the consolidated financial statements, the acquired company was able to execute part of the judgement 
and 50,504,513 shares of Boubyan Bank were transferred to the acquired company on 2 February 2023. However, these shares 
are held under a lien in favor of the Bank until the payment of KD14,563,536 has been made by the acquired company. 

Up to the date of issuing of these consolidated financial statements, the acquired company has not paid the adjudicated amount 
as it has so far been unable to arrange the necessary funds. Further, based on an independent legal opinion, the judgment issued 
on 3 July 2022 cannot be considered to give full rights to the acquired company over the transferred shares until the payment has 
been made and lien is removed. All these circumstances imposed a significant uncertainty about the timing of the payment and 
removal of the existing restrictions on the transferred shares since failure to make the payment gives the Bank the right to initiate 
compulsory execution on the transferred shares and other assets of the acquired company.

Accordingly, the Group,s management believes that the possible effects of the above judgments on the Group›s consolidated 
financial statements cannot be determined accurately until the payment has been made and lien is removed. Any amounts arising 
from the above judgements will be recorded in its consolidated financial statements after the payment is made by the acquired 
company, lien is removed and related uncertainties are resolved.
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37.  Comparative amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the current year. Such reclassification does 
not affect previously reported net assets, net equity, net results for the year or net increase in cash and cash equivalents.




